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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ATIEH
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
LIS

Below is the structure chart of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at

31 December 2022:
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SIIC Medical Science and
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Notes FfizE :

Incorporated in Australia with limited liability
FORAFEZMAIIZBRAE

Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
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Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
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Incorporated in Macau with limited liability
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Incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited
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Tianda for Health!

| Award & Certificate £E 155

Tianda Pharmaceuticals was awarded the status of Happy Company
under the “Happiness-at-Work Promotional Scheme” by the Promoting
Happiness Index Foundation
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals was awarded the “Caring Company” logo by the

BT R Hong Kong Council of Social Service for the third consecutive year
Car|ngcompan %k%ﬁ SEE=-EREEMSREHEERN (B REMIE
Awarded by The Hong KD%S, g;linél ﬂoé ;%ocagl :;’r\é/gg a_.tF —.—;m,\

°

Tianda Pharmaceuticals won the “Most Valuable Pharmaceutical and Medical

Company” Award at the “Zhitong Caijing Listed Company Awards of the Year”
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RAEXFEBRERARATDREN NRIT - HEREAKE)

Tianda Pharmaceuticals won the “ESG Awards” by the Television Broadcasts Limited

e
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.
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Zhuhai TDMall received the SGS I1SO 9001:2015 certification
(Quality Management Systems) and Qualicert Service Quality
Certification

KSR AREIESCSAEEEISO 9001:2015E EHIEFE AR
B Qualicert B PR AR TS0 55
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. FANG Wen Quan, aged 53, has been appointed as an Executive
Director since 6 October 2003. He is currently Chairman, Managing
Director, chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the
remuneration committee and the risk management committee of the
Company, and a director of the Group’s certain subsidiaries. Mr. Fang
is the founder, chairman and beneficial owner of Tianda Group Limited
(the controlling shareholder of the Company). Mr. Fang is currently the
chairman of the board of directors, general manager and authorized
representative of Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited* (listed on the
National Equities Exchange and Quotations, company code: 837889).
Mr. Fang studied International Relations at the University of Sydney and
Tsinghua University. He has ample experience in corporate strategy
and management. He also established “Tianda Institute”, a non-profit
strategic studies think tank. Committed to the mission of “Caring for
a Better World”, Mr. Fang has all along provided financial support to
communities in need, including donations to people living in the poverty,
education and talent development, healthcare, scientific research and
environmental protection, culture and arts.

Mr. LUl Man Sang, aged 58, has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company since 30 September 2013 and is a director
of the Group’s certain subsidiaries. Mr. Lui joined Tianda Group, the
controlling shareholder of the Company in 2007 and is the deputy
general manager of Tianda Group. He is responsible for the financial
management of Tianda Group and the Company. Mr. Lui is a director of
Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited (listed on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations, company code: 837889). Mr. Lui possesses
enriched financial management experience covering a variety of
industries including auditing in one of the big four accounting firms in
Hong Kong and overseeing the finance department of a Hong Kong
listed company. He holds an Executive MBA granted by City University
of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESTE

Mr. SHEN Bo, aged 49, has been appointed as a Non-executive Director
and a member of the audit committee of the Company since 10 August
2015. He is a non-practicing member of certified public accountant of the
People’s Republic of China. He received his bachelor degrees majoring
in economics from Shanghai Institute of Construction Materials Industry
and master of accountancy from Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Shen is the executive director, vice president and chief financial
officer of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.,* (a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 601607, and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Hong Kong Stock Exchange, with
stock code 02607), which holds 13.05% equity interest in the Company).
Mr. Shen is a non-executive director of Shanghai Fudan-Zhangjiang
Bio-Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (a company listed on the Science and
Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange with
stock code 688505 and Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code
01349). Mr. Shen served as manager of finance department and chief
financial officer in several large companies in mainland China so has
extensive experience in corporate management, financial control, and
governance of pharmaceutical companies. From April 2001 to March
2010, he served as the head of financial planning department, general
manager of finance department and chief financial officer in Shanghai
Industrial Pharmaceutical Investment Co, Ltd.* (a company formerly listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 600607). During the
same period, Mr. Shen also served as the general manager of finance
department of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals (Group) Co., Ltd.

Mr. FENG Quanming, aged 46, has been appointed as a Non-executive
Director since 23 March 2016. Mr. Feng is Chief Financial Officer of
Hongta Tabacco (Group) Limited (Hongta), which holds 9.66% equity
interest in the Company. He has extensive experience in corporate
financial accounting and asset management. Mr. Feng joined Hongta
in July 2001. During the period from August 2007 to January 2022, he
took various positions in the finance department of Hongta, including
deputy head of industrial finance division, head and deputy head of
asset management division, head of general management division
and head of the finance department. He was also the head of financial
planning division of Yunnan Hongta Group Co., Ltd*, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hongta, during the period from June 2013 to August 2014.
Mr. Feng obtained his bachelor degree in accounting at Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in 2001 and master in business
administration at Renmin University of China in 2009. Mr. Feng
possesses the qualification of practising certified public accountant in
mainland China.

*

For identification purpose only
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. LAM Yat Fai, aged 57, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee
and a member of audit committee of the Company since 2004. On
26 November 2013, he was appointed as the chairman of the audit
committee. He was appointed as a member of nomination committee
and risk management committee on 22 July 2009. He is a Certified
Public Accountant (Practising). He is also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lam has
accumulated rich experience in auditing, taxation, corporate finance and
accounting over the years. Mr. Lam is an independent non-executive
director of Oriental Enterprise Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Oriental Press Group Limited) (stock code: 0018), which is listed on the
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHIU Sung Hong, aged 75, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company with effect from 10 April 2008. Mr. Chiu ceased to act as
the chairman of the audit committee and remained as a member of
the committee on 26 November 2013. Mr. Chiu was appointed as the
chairman of risk management committee on 22 July 2009. On 1 April
2012, he was appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee
and a member of the nomination committee. He received an LL.B.
degree from the University of Sydney. He was admitted as a solicitor of
the Supreme Court of New South Wales and the High Court of Australia.
He has over 40 years of experience in legal practice. Mr. Chiu is the
founding member of the Board of Trustees of the Australian Nursing
Home Foundation and a senior research fellow of Centre for Law &
Globalization of Renmin University of China. He also served as the
General Secretary of Australian Chinese Community Association of
New South Wales. Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director
of CNOOC Limited (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
with stock code 600938, and Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock
code 0883), which is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and Bank of China (Australia) Limited.

Mr. CHIU Fan Wa, aged 58, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee and
audit committee of the Company since 31 March 2009. Mr. Chiu is
a founder and the managing director of Chiu, Choy & Chung C.P.A.
Limited, and a partner of F. S. Li & Co. He graduated from City
University of Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours)
degree with major in accountancy in 1992 and was awarded a
Master of Professional Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2002. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in
Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a fellow member of the Institute of the Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, a fellow member of The Society
of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, a fellow member of The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong and a Chartered Tax Advisor.

Note: The Group’s businesses are under the direct responsibility of the above
executive directors who are the senior management of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERWE

The continuous promotion of medical reform and the Healthy
China Initiative by the Chinese Government have brought both
opportunities and challenges for the pharmaceutical industry. The Group
further implemented the strategy of “development of Chinese medicine
business as foundation, development of innovative drugs and medical
technologies, as well as development of quality medical and healthcare
services”. The results of the Group’s three major business segments
continued to improve while consolidating core products, enriching
product pipelines, further developing the traditional Chinese medicine
(“TCM”) industrial chain and expanding sales channels. At the same
time, the Group increased its investment in research and development
(‘R&D”) in order to speed up the product R&D and create a new growth
point for sustainable development.

For the Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business,
the Group focuses on actively introducing, developing and acquiring
innovative drugs, generic drugs and healthcare products, for
cardiovascular and cerebrovascular, gynecological and pediatric, and
respiratory system diseases. The new R&D and production base in
Jinwan, Zhuhai commenced operations in the first half of 2022 and was
poised to become a pharmaceutical and health industry base with high
standards, quality and efficiency. At the end of 2022, the COVID-19
pandemic entered a new stage, and China implemented optimized
pandemic prevention and control measures in response to the situation.
The Group was fully engaged in the production of urgently needed
drugs such as ibuprofen to support the national production and supply,
making every effort to meet the urgent demand for drugs from the
public. As at the date of this report, the Group’s liquid-finished dosages
production line was still at full capacity. The Group accelerated the
expansion of the production capacity “unconventionally and efficiently”
in only 3 months and established a newly built liquid-finished dosages
production line. The Group’s marketing team is actively strengthening its
penetration in lower-tier markets to tap into the market potential in rural
areas. We will enhance cooperation with the top 100 pharmacy chains
in China to increase the market coverage of our products, aiming to
significantly increase the sales scale.

For the Chinese medicine business, leveraging on the established
TCM industrial chain layout, the Group focused on domestic and
overseas trading of Chinese medicinal materials, production and
sales, and distribution of TCM decoction pieces and formula granules,
integrating special resources from upstream to downstream for the
industry with a focus on variety management. During the Period, the
Group acquired high-quality proprietary Chinese medicines from the
market and focused on the R&D of pipelines. The Group has built and
developed a series of Chinese medicine healthcare products, and
gradually formed a layout for the R&D of Chinese medicine with a view
of “larger markets, stronger R&D and accelerated product introduction”,
thereby realizing the leapfrog development of the Chinese medicine
business.
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BRMEEERENEMBREPEE
RoBETERBRRBLT XEEE
—PERBE-ARRHE ((UERTPBEE
EAER  ZRAMEMMBERERR > &
REBERNFRERTE)  BBEEZLO
Em ZEEMER RIEPBEEXE
HRRIERIEERE  ZKEBIRIRES
FENE - BRI > AEBMAHER
A MMREMAE > HREZLRAEND
HEREL -

EYMBER S HE > AEERES]
EE HBAWE RENERE
me BEOKDE - BRMPRARKETE
R SEIE > B MAMER - IR KRBERERN
FREM B R U BEEL M 20224F FHFEFRIGE »
VYREIMER RENA—ESHRE S
mE - BMAENBEREEEZEM - 2022
FEE > HEEBEARER  BEXEF
KB EmEBCEBRESEN > AEBRE
HEEMBSFRER  TERRRFRM
ERBHRE2EIMRRESAES
Re-MABKEH  AEENREEREE
MIMERMERE AEBUDBEERF
EB~IERAMEIEMERARERIEBRER
TRTEREEMEER AEBEHE
BIEB MR TIIHIHE2E » BiEKRETIS
BN WHEEBREREESE BH
BAERTHRESZ  UWHRKBERFAHE
MR o

PREERSE  KIEETANTE
HrEXRMGR  AEBEMERDPEM
BIASES « RERRR ~ B 5 BRI EEH
EREEER > UmBREERF O > T
BAEELTRHERER HRALSEERE
BEELTERBETPHERE  REEZER
M > BRTRASEPBERRERRY
BYRHTARE - K%~ K3|EIHE
EMERE  HBTREXFEFERE
ISR -

3R 2022 (82022412831 ALEAER)

11



12 EESEEEEE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERIE

For the Medical and healthcare services, the Group has steadily
advanced the development of the modern Chinese medical clinic
“TDMall”. Through self-construction, franchising and mergers and
acquisitions, the Group’s priority is to expand in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, while making plans for a national and
global rollout. At present, the revenue of the four existing TDMalls
has been increasing steadily, and the fifth one will soon open in
Shenzhen. During the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak at the end of 2022,
Zhuhai TDMall supplied medicines and provided medical treatments
in response to the urgent need of the public in Zhuhai while through
“Cloud-based Global Anti-epidemic Chinese Medicine Platform”, TDMall
on Cloud provided both Hong Kong and Mainland residents with
free COVID-19 consultation service, supporting the fight against the
pandemic.

In 2017, the Group decided to invest in the development of
the TCM industry through in-depth market research and analysis in
response to the national strategy of revitalizing TCM and the policy
of developing the TCM industry. In 2020, the Group adjusted and
optimized the development strategy, clearly putting forward the “Three
Developments” strategy, and basically forming the layout of the whole
industrial chain of Chinese medicine. In 2021, the Group formulated
a ten-year development plan, identifying the development goal of
achieving “double tens of billions” (2 & &) (‘tens of billions of both
sales and market value”) by 2030 and moving towards a 100 billion
market value, as well as the corresponding “3D+1S” major initiatives
(business development (BD), research and development (R&D),
investment and development (ID), and marketing and sales (S)). After
years of planning, development and experience, the Group is confident
that we will have a promising future.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our shareholders, clients, staff and business partners for their
unremitting confidence in and support for the Group, and also the Board
of Directors for their efforts and contributions to the Group’s expeditious
business growth.

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2023
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CHANGE OF FINANCIAL YEAR END DATE

In order to align the financial year end date of the Company with
that of the principal operating subsidiaries of the Company, the financial
year end date of the Company has been changed from 31 March to
31 December. In view of this change, the current audited consolidated
financial statements covered a period of nine months from 1 April 2022
to 31 December 2022 (the “Current Financial Period”) and the audited
comparative figures covered a period of twelve months from 1 April
2021 to 31 March 2022 (the “Previous Financial Year”). Due to the
difference in the length of the reporting period, the audited comparative
figures may not be fully comparable.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business covers three major segments, namely,
pharmaceuticals and medical technologies, Chinese medicine and
medical and healthcare services. During the Current Financial Period,
the Group has made efforts to improve its operating performance, which
represents a significant improvement during the Previous Financial
Year. The Group recorded a total revenue of HK$410.0 million.
Excluding R&D expenses and certain one-off gains and losses (see the
Financial Review section for details), the adjusted loss attributable to
owners of the parent narrowed from HK$23.0 million in the Previous
Financial Year to HK$4.5 million in the Current Financial Period.
The Group is committed to R&D with R&D expenses increasing from
HK$15.9 million in the Previous Financial Year to HK$27.1 million in the
Current Financial Period, in order to promote the clinical progress of
pipelines under research, bringing more new products to the Group and
becoming a new growth point for sustainable development.

Growth trends of core products and increasing market share

The Group is deeply engaged in the fields of cardiovascular,
cerebrovascular and pediatric diseases with a unique pipeline of
generic products. The Group’s Tuoping®Valsartan capsules, its core
product for cardio-cerebrovascular disease, is the first place in the third
national collective procurement won the bid and No. 1 product in its
category in the mainland China market by sales quantity. The product
was identified as a branded product in Guangdong Province during
the Current Financial Period and was awarded the Sales Award of
Single Major Variety in Zhuhai City. The market share of its pediatric
drug, Tuoen®lbuprofen oral suspension, is among the top three in
China. Tuoping® and Tuoen® have a market-leading position as best
sellers due to their superior quality, good market placement and sound
marketing strategies.
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During the Current Financial Period, sales of Tuoping® reached
HK$148.3 million (Previous Financial Year: HK$173.8 million). With
the increase in the number of medical institutions covered, the brand
recognition of Tuoping® was further strengthened as more doctors and
patients recognized its quality advantage. During the period from April to
September 2022, the sales of Tuoen® increased by approximately 70%
as compared with the corresponding period of last year. In December
2022, as China implemented optimized anti-pandemic measures,
the market demand for COVID-19-related drugs increased sharply,
further driving the growth of the sales volume of Tuoen® as it reached
HK$118.8 million in the Current Financial Period (Previous Financial
Year: HK$92.7 million).

Further development of the Chinese medicine segment and
expansion of the Chinese medicine sub-segments

The Group has largely developed the whole TCM industrial chain
layout, covering the production of Chinese medicinal materials, the R&D
of TCM decoction pieces and formula granules as well as innovative
drugs, and international trading, with a compound annual growth rate
of 73% in revenue in the past three financial years. During the Current
Financial Period, sales amounted to HK$54.1 million (Previous Financial
Year: HK$106.5 million). The decrease was due to the disruption in the
logistics and supply chain as a result of the pandemic as well as the
Group adopting more stringent credit measures in its trading business,
and limiting the sales quota for some customers. Nevertheless, the
Group continues to increase its product portfolio, expand its sales
channels and strengthen its sources of procurement and supply.

During the Current Financial Period, the Group vigorously
pursued the R&D of new Chinese medicines and the acquisition
of proprietary Chinese medicine approvals, and accelerated the
development of the TCM decoction pieces and formula granules
business while also grooming talents for its TCM team to realize the
leapfrog development of the Chinese medicine business.

Rapid profitability from Chinese medicine clinics and proactive
exploration of business growth model

During the Current Financial Period, the overall revenue of
TDMalls increased to HK$11.2 million (Previous Financial Year:
HK$7.4 million). As the first clinic to adopt the equity investment
cooperation model, TDMall (Tsim Sha Tsui) brought in medical expert
as shareholder and to participate in the management. It made a profit
eight months after its launch, providing valuable experience and a
model for the national and global expansion of TDMall. As at the date
of this report, Shenzhen TDMall is near the end of the preparatory
stage, making another step forward for expanding Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. The TDMall has unified the layout and
strengthened the development of TCM healthcare products to meet the
health needs of different customers at multiple levels. On the basis of
the physical clinics, the Group provides comprehensive remote Chinese
medicine services to patients through the “TDMall on Cloud”, a cloud
technology-based Chinese medicine platform.
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The Group continued to improve the quality of its operating
services, thereby accelerating the formation of an established medical
system, quality assurance system, product development system,
marketing system, operating system and supply chain system.
The Group will further improve the Womb Caring Center, the Pain
Management Center and the Health Management Center, and also
plans to establish a Cancer Treatment Center to promote sustainable
business growth with the aim of building a group management model for
TCM chain clinics.

Enriching product pipelines

The Group is market-oriented and adheres to the combination of
generic products and innovation to promote innovative drugs, generic
drugs and drugs substances as a whole. Through independent R&D,
cooperation with external R&D institutions, and the introduction of new
projects, the product pipeline is constantly enriched. During the Current
Financial Period, the Group increased its investment in R&D, with
R&D expenses increasing year-on-year to HK$27.1 million (Previous
Financial Year: HK$15.9 million). With continuous R&D investment
and efforts, it is believed that more new products will be brought to the
Group in the next three to five years, bringing new growth drivers for
sustainable development.

The Group currently have major R&D projects underway,
including one on a class | innovative Chinese medicine, three on classic
ancient prescriptions of Chinese medicines for a new class Ill Chinese
medicine, two on class Il chemical drugs plus drugs substances, six
on class IV chemical drugs, and several healthcare products. During
the Current Financial Period, the Group has been collaborating with a
Chinese medicine research institute on innovative Chinese medicines
for chronic heart failure, and is currently at the clinical trial study stage.
The Group’s chemical drug products mainly cover the areas of pediatric
as well as cardiovascular and cerebrovascular agents.

The Group actively introduced approved proprietary Chinese
medicine products. Following the acquisition of a proprietary Chinese
medicine product, Xiaoer Qingre Zhike Granule (/)\52 ;& 24 111z FEHI
) last year, the Group acquired a proprietary Chinese medicine in the
digestive category, Jianerle Granule ({53 Z4F8H) this year, thereby
filling the gap in the Group’s digestive products for children and
continuing to expand its pediatric product categories.
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Expansion of sales channel

The Group has established a sizeable nationwide marketing
network, covering the first terminal, which is mainly composed of urban
public medical institutions and grassroots public medical institutions, the
second terminal, which is primarily composed of the top 100 nationwide
chain drugstores, and the third terminal, which is mainly composed
of small chain drugstores, individual drugstores and private hospitals
and clinics. The Group’s products were distributed to 31 provinces,
autonomous regions and municipalities, as well as in the regions of
Hong Kong and Macao.

During the Current Financial Period, the Group promoted the
development of county markets in all aspects to gain market coverage.
Meanwhile, the Group effectively strengthened the establishment of
online and offline healthcare product marketing teams, and expanded
healthcare product sales channels including e-commerce and new
media channels, in order to further increase the sales scale of its
healthcare products.

Improving production quality and efficiency and CDMO/CMO
business

The Group’s new R&D and production base in Zhuhai Jinwan
District Biomedical Industrial Park (BfiE&E@EYREEEE)
officially commenced production. With an energy-saving and
environmentally friendly garden-style factory design, the new base
is divided into four areas and auxiliary facilities, namely, production
and R&D, storage and logistics, administrative offices as well as
living facilities, and is equipped with a large number of automatic
and intelligent R&D and quality inspection, production and storage
equipment and facilities. Meanwhile, a quality assurance system
has been built based on the Pharmacopoeia of the PRC, British
Pharmacopoeia and United States Pharmacopoeia, and has obtained
GMP certification in China to ensure quality control, energy saving and
emission reduction, and advanced management. The new factory, new
process and new production line have formed a new modern production
enterprise, which has comprehensively improved the manufacturing
quality and technology applied to the products and enhanced the overall
competitiveness of the enterprise, laying a solid foundation for the
Group’s expansion. In order to meet the strong market demand, the
Group commenced the construction of production line for liquid-finished
dosages in December 2022 to expand the production capacity.

During the Current Financial Period, the Group further increased
its revenue streams through contract development and manufacturing
organization (“CDMQ”) and contract manufacturing organization
(“*CMO”) business models. As of the end of December 2022, the
Group had signed ten projects for R&D technology services, mainly for
liquid-finished dosages, and had implemented the production of five
projects during the Current Financial Period.
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OUTLOOK

The Group will strive to build core product brands such as
“Tuoen” and “Tuoping”, increase its market share by expanding its
sales network coverage and acquire high-quality varieties with market
potential in combination with the “3D” initiatives. Meanwhile, the
Group will grasp the policy dividend of TCM and continue to develop
the whole industry chain, increasing the trading of Chinese medicinal
materials focusing on varieties, while accelerating the integration of
TCM decoction pieces and formula granules businesses. It will also
continue to invest in the R&D and introduction of innovative Chinese
medicines, classic ancient prescriptions of Chinese medicines, finished
dosages and proprietary Chinese medicines. The Group will strengthen
the operation of TDMall through self-construction, franchising and
mergers and acquisitions, and will give priority to the expansion of the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, while making plans
for a national and global rollout. The Group will remain committed
to its “Three Developments” strategy and strive to become a leading
pharmaceutical enterprise with a foothold in China while expanding its
presence worldwide to make greater contributions to the safeguarding of
the health of mankind.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Current Financial Period, the Group recorded revenue
of HK$410.0 million (Previous Financial Year: HK$510.0 million). The
revenue of each business segment is shown in the Business Review
section. Gross profit was HK$188.6 million (Previous Financial Year:
HK$241.2 million) and gross profit margin decreased from 47.3% in
the Previous Financial Year to 46.0% in the Current Financial Period,
mainly due to the Group’s increase in provision for inventories and the
acceleration of amortization of intangible assets offset the impacts of
improved sales efficiency, better revenue quality and lower proportion
of the sales of lower margin products. At the same time, the Group
strictly controlled costs and reduced its selling and distribution expense
ratio by approximately 2 percentage points, with selling and distribution
expenses amounting to HK$150.6 million for the Current Financial
Period (Previous Financial Year: HK$198.0 million).
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Administrative expenses amounted to HK$63.5 million (Previous
Financial Year: HK$71.5 million), representing an increase on an
annualized basis, mainly due to the significant increase in depreciation
and amortization expenses of fixed assets of the Group’s new R&D
and production base in Jinwan District, Zhuhai, which commenced
operation in the first half of 2022. Meanwhile, upon the completion of
the new R&D and production base, the interest expenses on bank loans
related to the construction of the base could no longer be capitalized
and had to be recorded in the statement of profit or loss, resulting in a
significant increase in finance costs from HK$0.7 million in the Previous
Financial Year to HK$5.0 million in the Current Financial Period. R&D
expenses increased from HK$15.9 million in the Previous Financial Year
to HK$27.1 million in the Current Financial Period, with steady progress
in innovation and R&D. The latest progress of major R&D projects is
shown in the Business Review section above.

Other income and net gains decreased from HK$16.8 million in
the Previous Financial Year to HK$9.8 million in the Current Financial
Period, mainly due to a one-off gain of HK$12.1 million on the disposal
of a subsidiary in the Previous Financial Year, partially offset by a
one-off goodwill impairment loss of HK$1.6 million. There was no such
gain on disposal and no impairment of goodwill during the Current
Financial Period.

Income tax credit decreased, mainly due to a deferred tax
reversal of approximately HK$6.4 million arising from the disposal of
subsidiaries in the Previous Financial Year.

The Group’s loss attributable to owners of the parent for the
Current Financial Period was HK$41.0 million (Previous Financial
Year: HK$19.8 million). Excluding R&D expenses and certain one-off
gains and losses, the adjusted loss attributable to owners of the parent
narrowed from HK$23.0 million in the Previous Financial Year to HK$4.3
million in the Current Financial Period. The related R&D expenses and
one-off gains and losses are as follows:

(1)  The R&D expenses increased by approximately HK$11.2 million,
from HK$15.9 million (Of which HK$12.9 million was attributable
to the owners of the parent) in the Previous Financial Year to
HK$27.1 million (Of which HK$24.0 million was attributable to the
owners of the parent) in the Current Financial Period;
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(2)  With the completion of new plants and application of new
processes, and continuous investment in R&D to enhance product
quality and market competitiveness, the Group re-examined and
reduced the amortization life of intangible assets, resulting in
additional amortization of approximately HK$9.2 million charged
to cost of sales and an income tax credit of HK$2.3 million;

(3)  Provision of approximately HK$5.8 million (Previous Financial
Year: HK$0.8 million) for slow-moving inventories of non-core
products was made during the Current Financial Period;

(4) A one-off gain and related income tax credit of an aggregate of
approximately HK$18.5 million was recorded on the disposal
of a subsidiary, Zhuhai Tianda Realty Limited, in the Previous
Financial Year; and

(5) A goodwill impairment of HK$1.6 million was recorded in the
Previous Financial Year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity continued to stay in a healthy position.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalent
of HK$340.3 million (31 March 2022: HK$334.0 million), of which
approximately 86.5% were denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) with the
remaining in Hong Kong dollar, Australian dollar, Euro, Macau pataca
and United States dollar, as well as unutilised bank loan facilities
of HK$42.2 million. As at 31 December 2022, the bank borrowings
maturing in one year and maturing within two to five years amounted
to HK$64.7 million and HK$62.0 million respectively, which were
denominated in RMB and bear interest at the rate of China LPR + 1%.
Since the borrowings are lesser than the cash and cash equivalents,
there is no net debt (total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents) of
the Group. With this strong financial position, the Group has sufficient
financial resources to finance its operational and capital expenditures.
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B R REE ST

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are substantially
denominated in Hong Kong dollar, RMB, United States dollar and
Australian dollar. The Group has sales and investments in foreign
operations which use currencies other than its functional currency RMB.
As such, the Group has some exposures to foreign currency risks.
The management from time to time determines suitable measures,
such as entering into forward currency contracts, to lessen exposure
to exchange rate fluctuations in material transactions denominated
in currencies other than RMB. The Group did not enter into any
forward currency contracts to hedge its foreign currency risks as at 31
December 2022.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group pledged certain right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment with carrying value HK$253.8
million (31 March 2022: HK$274.8 million) in aggregate to secure a
bank loan facility granted to the Group.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed approximately
722 employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and Australia. The Group
remunerates its employees based on market terms the qualifications
and experience of the employees concerned.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

There was no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries
and associated companies during the period ended 31 December 2022.
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The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory
and regulatory standards and adhering to the principles of corporate
governance, emphasizing transparency and accountability to the
shareholders.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) during the nine months ended 31
December 2022 (the “Period”) except as mentioned below.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan is the Chairman of the Board and the
Managing Director of the Company. Pursuant to code provision of C.2.1
of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer
of an issuer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out
in writing. Having considered the current business operation and the
size of the Group, the Board is of the view that Mr. Fang Wen Quan
has been the key leader of the Group, who has been primarily involved
in formulation of business strategies and determination of the overall
direction of the Group. He has also been chiefly responsible for the
Group’s operations as he directly supervises the management team of
the Group. Taking into account the continuation of the implementation
of the Group’s business plans, the Directors (including the Independent
Non-executive Directors) consider that Mr. Fang Wen Quan acting
as both the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the
Company is acceptable and in the best interest of the Group. The Board
has reviewed this situation periodically.

Value, Mission and Vision

The Group adheres to the philosophy of “Tianda for health!” as
core value, which shows the Company’s continuous commitment to the
passion and pursuit of health and care. The Group fully realizes our
social responsibilities and insists on the corporate mission - to adopt
market-driven and innovative approach; follow international standards
and assure quality & safety control; strengthen good management
practice; value talents; enhance research and development; offer
quality products. Focus on cost efficiency and create better returns
for shareholders; improve service to make our business partners more
satisfied; boost up the incentive mechanism to make our employees
more devoted to work. Our vision is committed to becoming a leading
pharmaceutical enterprise that sets its footholds in China while seeking
to expand its presence worldwide.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the businesses, strategic development, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. The management
is delegated with the powers and authorities for overseeing the
day-to-day operation of the Group.

The Board currently consists of 7 Directors, comprising 2
Executive Directors, 2 Non-executive Directors and 3 Independent
Non-executive Directors (INEDs) namely:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shen Bo
Mr. Feng Quanming

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa

The Board believes that the balance between Executive Directors
and Non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient balances that protect the interest of the shareholders and the
Group.

INEDs and Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

More than one of the INEDs has appropriate professional
qualification in accounting or related financial management expertise.
Save as disclosed in the biographical details of each Director, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family, or other
material/relevant relationship) among members of the Board.

The articles of association of the Company provide that one-third
of all the directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting (AGM), and the INEDs are subject to this provision.
The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
the three INEDs in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board has established a formal schedule of matters
specifically reserves to the Board for its decision. The Board reviews
this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains appropriate to
the needs of the Board.

The Board has adopted effective mechanisms to ensure
independent view and input are available to the Board and established
procedures to enable directors, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances to enable
them to discharge their duties at the Company’s expenses. The articles
of association of the Company contain description of responsibility and
operation procedures of the Board. The Board meets regularly to review
the financial and operating performance of the Group.

Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism

The Board has adopted the board independence evaluation
mechanism (the “Mechanism”) which sets out the principles and
guidelines for the Company to ensure independent view and input to be
available to the Board.

Continuing improvement and development of the Board of the
Company and its committee processes and procedures through Board
independence evaluation provides a powerful and valuable feedback
mechanism for improving Board effectiveness, maximising strengths,
and identifying the areas that need improvement or further development.
The evaluation process also clarifies what actions of the Company need
to be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance.

The Mechanism enhances INEDs contribution with independent
views to the Board as below:

. Invite INEDs to serve as the audit, remuneration,
nomination and if any, other Board committees;
. Encourage INEDs to raise questions and voice their

concerns during the meetings;

. Take the lead by INEDs where potential conflicts of interest
arise;
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. Keep INEDs up-to-date with the affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries so that INEDs may scrutinise the
Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, and monitor performance reporting
when (1) annually reviewing the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board and assessing the independence
of INEDs; (2) recommending INED to be re-elected at
the AGM of the Company; and/or (3) recommending any
individual as new INED, the nomination committee of the
Company shall take into account the contribution by each
INED/individual.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of such Mechanism on an
annual basis.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including the following matters attended by the Board during the
Period:

. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations;

. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

. review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report under
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Directors’ training and professional development
Directors of the Company are continually updated with legal and

regulatory developments, and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities.
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All Directors are also provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Newly appointed Directors are provided with the necessary
induction and information to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
as their responsibilities under the relevant statues, laws, rules and
regulations.

Based on the training records provided to the Company by the
Directors, all the Directors have participated in the trainings by reading
newspapers, journals and updates and/or attending seminars relating to
corporate governance, regulatory updates, economy, general business
or director’s duties and responsibilities, etc. during the Period.

Directors’ meeting

During the Period, the Board held 3 full board meetings. The
attendances of the Directors at the meetings are as follows:
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Number of Meetings

Attended/Held
Directors BE HiE/ BT88RH
Executive Directors: HTEE:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan BXERE 33

(Chairman and Managing Director) (EERREFHLE)

Mr. Lui Man Sang BXERE 313
Non-executive Directors: JERITESE :
Mr. Shen Bo TR 313
Mr. Feng Quanming BERPEE 313
INEDs: BIiERNITES:
Mr. Lam Yat Fai HWHEELE 3/3
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERLE 313
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa HmMELE 313

The Board has also established the audit committee, nomination
committee, remuneration committee and risk management committee
which comprises a majority of INEDs. Each of these committees has
its own terms of reference to set out its specific duties and authorities
and reports to the Board. For the terms of reference of each committee,
please visit the website of our Company www.tiandapharma.com.
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Emoluments of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments and five highest
paid employees are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements. Also, the Group’s business are under the direct
responsibility of the two Executive Directors, who are the senior
management of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
with specific written terms of reference. It comprises three INEDs of
the Company, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Fan
Wa and one Executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong is the Chairman of the remuneration committee
during the Period.

The remuneration committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on, among other things, the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration to all Directors
and senior management of the Company and is delegated by the
Board the responsibility to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages for all Executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.

The remuneration committee held 1 meeting during the Period to
review and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Individual Executive Directors, the Non-executive Directors,
the INEDs and senior management; and to review the bonus to senior
management.

Details of individual attendance of its members during the Period
are as follows:

EEREREEABZHH

EHESEHINR IR RSHMNESRN
H BN R ST IRROVMIFESRI © LEsh -
FEBNEBHMBRATEFERRS
RETHERATNSHREEAS -

FMEET

FABZHMEEGEEMIL > 5]H
AREEORELES MEEELRTZ
ZERBUFNTEFTHERERE - MBKE
TERBEMERLE > UREFABZ—RH
TEFHXESLE - MERKENAEME
AAHINEEGZER -

HWEEERE (HFERE) MEQH
FMEEERSREEAESZHMBERKRE
BRAESERUER  LEEFERTH
BURREFZTTEEL QB ZERYITE
EREREBABZREFHWMNES

REEE FNEES
#UBRBENRITESE - FATEFER
3%43&%’"%5%&%#& BA&Z#
FBUMILFHERER B SRE
BABZTEA -

BE—RE

RAHERERRE Z HEFBENT -

Number of Meetings
Attended/HeId
H:“ﬁ/%‘f-f = n 5&

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (Chairman) HRERE (FE)
Mr. Fang Wen Quan FXHERE
Mr. Lam Yat Fai MBEELEE
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa M ESRE

Ul
1N
17
1N




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREGHRE

The work performed by the remuneration committee during the
Period includes the followings:

. reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation to
the Board for approval;

. reviewed the current remuneration structure/package
of the Executive Directors and senior management and
recommended the Board to approve their specific packages;
and

. reviewed the revised remuneration policy and term of
reference of the remuneration committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established nomination committee comprising
two INEDs, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and one
Executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan (who is the
chairman of the nomination committee).

The duties of the nomination committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the INEDs and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

During the Period, the nomination committee held 1 meeting.
Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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The work performed by the nomination committee during the
Period includes the follows:

. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board;

. reviewed the revised board diversity policy, nomination
policy and terms of reference of the nomination committee;

. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;

. reviewed the confirmation from the Directors on time
commitment in performing their duties as Directors; and

. made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of
Director at the 2022 AGM.

There was no change on the composition of the Board during the
Period.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse board
in enhancing the Board effectiveness and corporate governance. The
Company has a board diversity policy aiming at setting out the approach
on diversity of the Board of the Company.

The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships with regards to their qualifications, skills,
experience and knowledge, assess the independence of INEDs, and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

The nomination committee is also responsible for reviewing and
reporting on the board diversity on an annual basis.
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Measurable Objectives

Appointments of directors will not only be based on merit and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, but also will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board currently comprises entirely of male Directors. It is
targeted to appoint one female director as soon as possible. The female
representation is about 49% at workforce level.

Review of this Policy

The Board has reviewed this policy on an annual basis to ensure
its continued effectiveness.

For compliance with the Listing Rules and the board diversity
policy, the following measurable objectives were reviewed and
implemented:

. at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
Independent Non-executive Directors;

. at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

. at least 70% of the members of the Board shall have more
than seven years of experience in the industry he/she is

specialised in;

. at least two of the members of the Board shall have
China-related work experience; and

. no single gender Board is allowed after 2024.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy. The nomination
committee reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board
periodically and make recommendation on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. When it is
necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an additional director, the
nomination committee identifies or selects candidates as recommended
to the committee pursuant to the criteria set out in the nomination
policy. Based upon the recommendation of the nomination committee,
the Board deliberates and decides on the appointment. In addition,
pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, every director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation or re-election at least once
every three years and shall be eligible for re-election at each AGM. The
nomination committee shall review the overall contribution and service
to the Company, expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring
directors, who offered himself/herself for re-election at the AGM, to
determine whether such director continues to meet the criteria as set
out in the nomination policy. The nomination committee reviews and
assesses the independence of all INEDs on an annual basis.

The nomination policy which sets out the procedures and
criteria for the selection, appointment and reappointment of Directors.
The selection criteria that nomination committee has to consider
in evaluating and selecting a candidate for directorship include the
following:

. character and integrity;

. qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
board diversity policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

. any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

. requirement for the Board to have independent
non-executive directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the Listing Rules;
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. any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

. willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

. such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the nomination committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.

NOMINATION PROCESS
Appointment of New Director

1. The nomination committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents.

2. The nomination committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

3. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
nomination committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

4. The nomination committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

5. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company, the nomination
committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the nomination committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

1. The nomination committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

2. The nomination committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

3. The nomination committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a
candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/ or applicable laws
and regulations.

Re-election of INED at General Meeting

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of
the relevant general meeting:

1. the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

2. if the proposed INED will be holding their seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, why the Board believes the
individual would still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board;

3. the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

4. how the individual contributes to diversity (including gender
diversity) of the Board.
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The nomination committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and this Policy and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs, to
comply with all applicable laws and regulations from time to time and
maintain good corporate governance practice.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three INEDs of the Company,
being, Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa
and one Non-executive Director, Mr. Shen Bo. Mr. Lam Yat Fai is the
chairman of the audit committee.

The role and function of the audit committee include the
followings:

. review of and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard,;

. review of the annual and interim financial statements prior
to their approval by the Board, and recommend application
of accounting policies and changes to the financial reporting
requirements; and

. review of the Company'’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems to ensure that management
has discharged its duty to have an effective internal control
system.

During the Period, the audit committee held 2 meetings. Details of
individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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The work performed by the audit committee during the Period
includes the followings:

. reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022 and for the six months ended 30 September
2022;

. considered and approved of the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

. considered and reviewed the scope of internal audit,
findings and recommendation;

. reviewed the revised audit policy and term of reference of
audit committee;

. reviewed the internal control and financial reporting matters
of the Company; and

. reviewed arrangement (including investigation and following
action) to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters through
the whistle-blowing policy adopted by the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company has established risk management committee
comprising two INEDs, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (chairman of risk
management committee) and Mr. Lam Yat Fai and one Executive
Director, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.

The role and function of the risk management committee include
the followings:

. enhance and strengthen the system of risk management
of the Group and provide comments and recommendations

thereon to the Board;

. identify the risks of the Group and provide recommendations
to the Board; and

. other matters authorised by the Board.
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During the Period, the risk management committee held 1
meeting. Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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The work performed by the risk management committee during
the Period includes the followings:

. Assisted the Board to perform its responsibilities of risk
management and internal control;

. Oversaw and reviewed the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis; and

. Reviewed the revised risk management policy and term of
reference of risk management committee.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will take into account factors
such as results of operations, working capital, financial position, future
prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any other factors which
the directors of the Company may consider relevant from time to time.
The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and the
Dividend Policy does not constitute any commitment or obligation of the
Company to declare dividends.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all
the Directors of the Company, they all confirm that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the Period.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit services and non-audit services,
including reviewing interim results and taxation services for the year
provided by Messrs. Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants,
the external auditor of the Company, amounted to HK$1,575,000 and
HK$435,000 respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company acknowledge that it is their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements. The Directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and
applicable accounting principles. The Directors of the Company are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The statement of the auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’'s Report on pages 58 to 64.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems so as to ensure the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets are properly
safeguarded. The systems of risk management and internal control are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Company established an internal audit department to assess
its risk management and internal control systems, formulating an
impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the audit
committee, the Chairman of the Board and the senior management
concerned on a regular basis as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved.

The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems at least annually to ensure its continued effectiveness and
adequate.

Risk Management Framework

1. Each business unit is responsible for identifying, assessing and
managing risks (including environmental, social and governance
(‘ESG”) risks) within its business, ensuring that appropriate
internal controls for effective risk management are implemented
— principal risks are identified and assessed in the yearly
business planning process with action plans to manage those
risks.
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2. The management is responsible for overseeing the risk
management (including ESG risks) and internal control activities
of the Group — regular meetings with each business unit to
ensure principals risk are properly managed, and new or changing
risks are identified.

3. The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management
(including ESG risks) and internal controls — review of the annual
internal audit report and consideration of the audit committee’s
recommendation.

The risk management framework, coupled with our internal
controls, ensures that the risks associated with our different business
units are effectively controlled in line with the Group’s risk appetite.

The risk management system of the Group is designed to
facilitate effective and efficient operations, to ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records, to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and to
safeguard assets of the Group. The management is responsible for
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls, while
the audit committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the
Group’s systems of risk management and internal controls through the
assistance of the internal audit function.

During the Period, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems through the audit
committee and the internal audit department of the Company. The
Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function as well as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance
and reporting, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board formed its own view on the effectiveness of the
systems based on the review of the internal audit report and the
recommendation of the audit committee.
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In respect of the Period, the audit committee noted that during the
financial year ended 31 March 2022 the aggregated transaction amount
for the sales of products and logistics services provided by the Group
to Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
(“SPHC Group”) (the “Sales and Services CCT") had exceeded the
annual cap (the “Exceed”) and concurred with the remedial measures
put forward by the Board which are being implemented by the Group
to strengthen its internal controls regarding the Sales and Services
CCT. The audit committee believed that the Exceed was an isolated
incident and the deficiency (if any) in internal controls reflected by such
incident can be fixed by the remedial measures, and considered the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group effective
and adequate. No significant areas of concern that may affect the
financial, operational, compliance controls, and risk management of the
Group have been identified. The Board also considered the resources,
qualification and experience, training programs and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions
adequate. Nevertheless, the Group would take further steps to
continually improve its risk management and internal control systems.

DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is committed to a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information
about the Group. The Company has adopted a policy on Disclosure
of Inside Information which sets out the obligations, guidelines and
procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information. With
these guidelines and procedures, the Group has management controls
in place to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly
identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board to
decide about the need for disclosure.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Lo Tai On, a
representative from an external secretarial services provider, as the
company secretary of the Company. The primary contact person
with the company secretary of the Company is the Deputy Financial
Controller of the Company. Mr. Lo has confirmed that he has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Period, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communications
with shareholders and investors, so the shareholders communication
policy is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its continued
effectiveness. The objective of shareholder communication is to provide
our shareholders with detailed information about the Company so that
they can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.
The Company establishes various communication channels with its
shareholders and investors and employs a range of communication
tools to ensure its shareholders are kept well informed of key business
imperatives. These include general meetings, interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. The Company believes that the
AGM is one of the principal channels for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. The Board welcomes shareholders to express
their opinions at the AGM. Directors and external auditor attend the
AGM to address shareholders’ queries. Separate resolutions are
proposed at general meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including the re-election of individual Directors. The notice of the
meeting, the annual report and the circular containing information on
the proposed resolutions are sent to shareholders before the meeting
in accordance to the listing rules and the articles of association of
the Company. Procedure for voting by poll had been read out at the
general meetings. All votes of the shareholders were taken by poll. The
Company announced results of the poll in the manner prescribed under
the Listing Rules.

The 2022 AGM of the Company was held on 31 August 2022.
A notice convening the AGM contained in the circular dated 25 July
2022 was dispatched to the shareholders together with the 2022 annual
report. A separate resolution was proposed by the chairman of the
meeting in respect of each separate issue, including re-election of
Directors.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan, the Chairman, Mr. Lui Man Sang, the
Executive Director, the two Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Shen
Bo and Mr. Feng Quanming, and three INEDs, namely Mr. Lam Yat Fai,
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa attended the AGM to answer
questions raised from shareholders. No other general meeting was held
during the Period.
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company is committed to ensuring the shareholders as
well as the investment community, are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to current and relevant information about the Company
(including its financial and operational performance, business plan and
strategy, material developments, corporate governance and structures
etc), in order to enable the shareholders to have better understanding of
the Company as well as to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to let shareholders and the investment community to enhance
communication with the Company. Information shall be communicated
to shareholders and the investors through:

. continuous disclosure of all material information of the
Company;

. periodic disclosure through financial reports (interim and
annual reports) of the Company;

. investor presentations;

. AGMs and other shareholders’ meetings of the Company;
and

. the Company’s website at www.tiandapharma.com and the
website of the Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy on an annual basis and considered
that such policy remains effective in enhancing timely, transparent and
open communication between the Company and the shareholders.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high
standard of probity, openness, and accountability. A whistleblowing
policy is in place to create a mechanism for the employees and
other stakeholders of the Company to raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties. A designated email account and a
dedicated hotline have been set up for this purpose. The identity of
each whistleblower and all information provided in connection with a
whistleblowing report will be treated with the strictest confidence.

Anti-corruption and money laundering

The Group has established policies and procedures to deal with
money laundering in its operations. In addition, the Group also has
established prevention system by setting up communication channels
for faults and anti-corruption reporting. The whistleblowing system can
handle any breach of laws and regulations.

FAIR DISCLOSURE

The Company uses its best endeavors to distribute material
information about the Group to all interested parties as timely as
possible. Information about the Group can be found on the Company’s
website including descriptions of each business and the interim and
annual reports of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group fully recognises the importance of employing a
professional, truthful and proactive attitude in promoting investor
relations. This underscores the Group’s persistence in maintaining
optimum allround communications with investors, allowing it to collect
information and valuable feedbacks from investors and announce its
business strategy and direction in due course. These efforts are critical
for the Group to improve its corporate governance and strengthen
investor confidence.
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Ensuring high corporate transparency is a key emphasis in the
Group’s investor relations activities. During the Period, the Group
promoted investor relations through different channels. Regular
meetings were held between the management and investors. Latest
information regarding the Group and its business is proactively
disclosed to investors so that the best investment decisions can be
made. Whenever announcements on annual results, interim results
and material transactions are made, the Group will capitalise such
opportunities to enhance communications with investors, explaining
to them the Group’s latest operational situations and direction of
development.

The Company also maintains a website at www.tiandapharma.com,
where updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing through Investor Relations &
Corporate Communications Department whose contact details are as
follows:
Address:  Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC Tower,
No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2541 6558
Email: ir@tianda.com

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The AGM
of the Company shall be held in each year at such place as may be
determined by the Board. All general meetings other than AGM shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”). Set out below are
procedures by which shareholders may (1) convene the EGM; (2) put
forward enquires to the Board; and (3) put forward proposals at general
meetings. The procedures are subject to the Company’s articles of
association and applicable legislation and regulations.

(1)  Procedures for shareholders to convene the EGM

Any shareholder or shareholders holding at the date of the deposit
of the requisition in aggregate not less than 10 per cent of such of the
paid up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
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Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s
principal office in Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC
Tower, No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM, the requisitionists
themselves may convene the EGM in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result
of the failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the requisitionist(s) concerned at
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal as set out in the
Company'’s articles of association and the CG Code.

(2) Procedures to put forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing with the detail contact information
of the requisitionists through the Company’s principal place of
business of Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC
Tower, No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong or email to
direct_enquiries@tianda.com for the attention of the Board.

(3) Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of association
or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for shareholders to put forward
new resolution at general meetings other than a proposal of a person
for election as director. Shareholders may follow the procedures set out
above to convene the EGM for any business specified in such written
requisition.

The procedures for shareholder of the Company to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the Company website at
www.tiandapharma.com.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended 31
December 2022 (the “Period”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
R&D, manufacture and sales of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and
healthcare products, and investment in the development of Chinese
medicine industry.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Period containing
a fair review of the business during the Period and discussion of
future business development of the Group and the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group is set out in the sections headed “Report
of the Chairman” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” from
pages 11 to 12 and pages 13 to 20 respectively of this Annual Report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. During the Period under
review, there were no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of the
environment and our society. The Group has endeavoured to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopted effective environmental practices to ensure our business
meet the required standards and ethics in respect of environmental
protection. Further discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and the relationships with various stakeholders are covered in a
separate “Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report’
published by the Company.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Period, as far as the Board and management are
aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant
impact on the businesses and operations of the Group.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results by
segment for the Period is set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Period, the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 25.6% of the Group’s total revenue while the
largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 10.5%
of the Group’s total revenue. In addition, for the Period, the five
largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 43.8% of
the Group’s total purchases while the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 24.5% of the Group’s total purchases.

During the Period, to the knowledge of the Directors, Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd., together with its subsidiaries is one
of the five major customers of the Group; and Tianda Group and Hongta
Tobacco (Group) Limited indirectly hold the respective of 60% and 40%
equity interest in Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Company Limited
which is one of the five major suppliers of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 65 to 66.
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DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKO0.26 cent per share (year ended 31 March 2022: HK0.26 cent per
share and a special dividend of HK0.56 cent per share) for the Period,
subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 2023 AGM. The
dates of the forthcoming 2023 AGM, closure of register of members of
the Company for the purpose of determining the identity of shareholders
entitled to attend the AGM and to receive the proposed final dividend,
and the payment date of the said final dividend will be announced later.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the

Group for the last five financial years/period is set out on page 176 of
this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of

the Group during the Period are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity set
out on page 69 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie as computed
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands of
approximately HK$26,077,000. Moreover, the share premium account
of the Company may be distributed, provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2022, the
Company’s share premium account amounted to HK$355,703,000.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable purposes during the Period
amounted to HK$11,000.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Period and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan

(Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shen Bo
Mr. Feng Quanming

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa
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In accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Lui Man Sang, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Sung
Hong shall retire from their office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company and being eligible, they will offer themselves for
re-election.

In addition, pursuant to code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, if an
independent non-executive director has served more than nine years,
his further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by shareholders of the listed issuer. The papers to
shareholders accompanying that resolution should state why the
board (or the nomination committee) believes that the director is still
independent and should be re-elected, including the factors considered,
the process and the discussion of the board (or the nomination
committee) in arriving at such determination. Each of Mr. Lam Yat Fai,
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa has served as an INED for
more than nine years.

The Board is in the process of identifying a suitable candidate
for appointment as a new INED. If suitable candidate is identified, the
appointment will be proposed for the approval of the shareholders at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company. Details relating to the proposed
appointment will be disclosed in the papers to the shareholders
accompanying the resolution for his/her proposed election as an INED.

INEDs and Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
1 year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 December 2022, the interests of the Company’s Directors,
chief executives and their associates in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong)
(SFO), were as follows:
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At an annual general meeting held on 28 August 2020, the
Company approved the adoption of a new share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) and the terms of the Scheme are as follows.

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
recognise the future and/or past contributions of the participants (as
defined in the Scheme) to the Company, and to attract and retain such
important participants and/or to maintain a continuing relationship, with
participants who have contributed to the result, growth, success and
benefit of the Group, and in relation to administrative staff, to recruit and
retain experienced and talented individuals and/or to reward their past
contributions.

The Scheme is for a period of 10 years from the date of adoption
on 28 August 2020. The Directors may, at their discretion, make an
offer to any participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her signing the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option and paying HK$1 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof.

The subscription price for shares of the Company under the
Scheme shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which date must be a business
day); (ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the
offer date.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10 per cent of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme. An option may be
exercised during a period to be determined by the Directors in its
absolute discretion and in any event such period shall not be longer
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is granted.
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The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant under the Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1 per cent of the total number of
shares in issue of the Company. Any further grant of options in excess
of the 1 per cent limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the
Scheme on 28 August 2020. The Company can grant options under
the Scheme for subscription of up to a total of 215,004,188 shares,
representing 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of adoption, 1 April 2022 and 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, AGREEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in notes 30 and 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, agreement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Period or at
any time during the Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Scheme of the Company disclosed above, at no
time during the Period was the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors
nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any rights
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all
liability incurred by him as such director in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in
which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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BEmithEm - i EFHWEFEZE
BRERBTN\BRATZFRZREIHEER
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EHEFZWEIRX

TABERMAUEE  REFUES
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERRK

20226128310 » RBBH RIS
& BISEIBIR A A B FIFEZ EEREES
WA= TIRERENEALATHERE
NATS%E N B BITIRA Z BRI ¢

At 31 December 2022, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant
interests in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

Number of
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held %
RRRBE 515 FRis A ZRIZEE Bt
Tianda Group Beneficial owner 1,218,181,370 56.66
(Note 1)
AREH EEBEAA (HtaE1)
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,218,181,370 56.66
(Note 1)
BXERE REZEES (HtzE1)
SIIC Medical Science and Beneficial owner 280,517,724 13.05
Technology (Group) (Note 2)
Limited (“SMST”)
EEEXRERK (5FE) BREBA (HtaE2)
BRAR (TEEERE))
Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
Holding Co., Ltd. (*SPHL") (Note 2)
LT ERBEEBERMBERAT REZEEEFAH (Htst2)
(TLisBezE))
Shanghai Industrial Investment Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
(Holdings) Co., Ltd. (“SIIC") (Note 2)
EEEXE (EE) ARAH REZEFES (Htz£2)
(TEE&EE))
Hongta Tobacco (Group) Beneficial owner 207,616,264 9.66

Limited (Hongta)
AEEEE (BE) AR
BEAHR

Notes:

k

BmBEREA

HiaE -

ZE1218181 370 RIT AR AEE B
B AXBEERRAEEER 2 ERRE
Hit > WWR BN RAREBFAERSZ £it
1,218,181, 370R & 17 B AT % ©

(1) These 1,218,181,370 shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr. (1)
Fang Wen Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly,
is deemed to have a corporate interest in the said 1,218,181,370 shares
owned by Tianda Group.

%%280,517, 124 IRV L BB EBHER ©
L EREExHEA LERESNED ML
BEES LBRENZERRKRR - Rt £E
ERKRELBBEREASN LBRERERZ
£ t280,517, 724BR IR 13 P E B #E 4 o

(2)  These 280,517,724 shares are beneficially owned by SMST. SMST (2)
is beneficially owned as to 100% by SPHL and SIIC is the controlling
shareholder of SPHL. Accordingly, SIIC and SPHL are deemed to be
interested in the said 280,517,724 shares owned by SMST.

5?2 EEEEEEEY
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All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at 31
December 2022, no short position was recorded in the register kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interest representing 5% or more in the Company’s issued
share capital as at 31 December 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the Period, the Group conducted certain transactions
with connected persons which constituted “continuing connected
transactions” under the Listing Rules. Details of these continuing
connected transactions which are subject to the reporting requirements
under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are summarised as follows:

PURCHASES OF THE INSTRUCTION LEAFLETS, PACKAGING
BOXES AND RELATED PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

On 1 April 2022, a framework agreement was entered into
between the Company and Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited*
(“TCH (China)”) for governing the transactions of purchasing printed
instruction leaflets, packaging boxes and related products and designing
services from TCH (China) and its subsidiaries by the Group for a term
of three years commencing from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2025.

*  For identification purpose only

Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)

L e AT R o 112022512
A318 > xR BRIEFF KRG 15155336
1R FEZ B M S| ERK A ER

BREXIREEN  AAFLEENS
ERA L2022 12831 BIRFB AR E)5%K
NEBETRAZEMHECHER -

ME - HERBOFATZ LHES

KRB HEEMMBRB R ARREA
BHEEE HENERAAFEMLHE
# o

FEB/IIETET

RiE EHRAE3.130% » KRB EKE
BBEUFATESNHBUMFRELZE
EHER - A RBRAABEBILIFNITES
BABIAL -

REXZRIFEMRERS

FEMERS

RAHER > NEBRAREANLTET
ETRG > ZEXSRE LHRAER T
BRERS -  ZERERERZAETLE
MRABUATURIE T ZRHRE > HF1E
BT

REAMRAE - ERERARERKRRE

720224818 » "~ 8 8 R KX 1E
PR (FE) BRAR (TRANE (FE) )
ST ERGE  UBEEAEBEBRXAIE
(hE) REMBABIRBEIRIGRBEE - &
ESREHERRRARBZZERS
FHI 202254818 E2025%3831H A& H#A
=fFo

tEHREE
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TCH (China) is a subsidiary of Tianda Group, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, so it is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the framework
agreement and the transactions contemplated under these framework
agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the
transactions are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 1 April
2022.

The Company had changed its financial year end date from 31
March to 31 December on 25 November 2022. In order to align with
the Company’s new financial year end date, the Company revised the
relevant period of the existing annual caps of the continuing connected
transactions so that the revised annual caps cover the period/year
ending on 31 December on 29 December 2022. Details of the revisions
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 December 2022.

The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the Period are as follows:

RAIE (FE) A ABERKRERERX
AEBZHEBAT » MiIRE LHBREBL
NEIZEABEAL B RIBELEHRAE
14AE > BRI ERIBZEER G ERET
ZRBERA AT ZFHERERS - B
REHBENE AT HEA20225F48182

==
N o

AT R2022FE118258 L H BB &
EMEEREARAIAMNAERA128318 °
AEAXANBZHPBEEEERRE—
o RATR20225E128298 » EETIREH
BRIERSZEE LR ERAEAR » LUE
BIETEE LIRRENRBE12H3MBLEZH
M/ EE BREIEEENREALET B
A202F 128298 2 A% -

LRFERER SN AHEZEFE L
REBREEIIRMT :

The actual
Business type The annual cap  transaction amount
EBER FELR BERXZEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET

Purchasing printed instruction leaflets, REBENRIEAEE - BEER

packaging boxes and related 1HRA E m R AR TS

products and services 14,000 10,542

PROVIDING PRODUCTS AND LOGISTICS SERVICES

On 9 April 2021, the Company and Shanghai Pharmaceuticals
Holding Co., Ltd.* (“SPHL”") entered into a framework agreement for a
term of three years commencing from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024,
pursuant to which the Group and SPHL Group will from time to time
enter into transactions by providing products (including pharmaceutical
products, Chinese medicines and healthcare products) and logistics
services to each other during the ordinary and usual course of business.

*  For identification purpose only

1 {5 2 on B VDRt e i AR 35

7202154890 » A A B 81 5 B 5%
EBRMARLQE (TLE8EE)) B:T—1H
WVELZR 5% > FEHAM20214F4 51 H B1R E2024
FIBNHAH=F Bt AEHHA LR
BERT-KAEHEERBRES BEXR
RNEMERSSHEER (BEME s PER
fRIBER) RIBREYIRECERTS o

rEHREE
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As SPHL is a substantial shareholder of the Company, which
indirectly holds 13.05% interest in the issued share capital of the
Company. SPHL is therefore a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the framework
agreement and the transactions contemplated under the framework
agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company. Details of the transactions are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 9 April 2021.

The Company had changed its financial year end date from 31
March to 31 December on 25 November 2022. In order to align with
the Company’s new financial year end date, the Company revised the
relevant period of the existing annual caps of the continuing connected
transactions so that the revised annual caps cover the period/year
ending on 31 December on 29 December 2022. Details of the revisions
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 December 2022.

The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the Period are as follows:

Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)

LBBESEAATNETERE > M@
RFAEARBBHITRAMN3.05% 2 k> 1R
BEBRAUBUAT > EBBERILAER
BIRREAL - Eit s ERBHEKREET
FRBEITHNZERZBRALBELTR
ATHRFERERS - BRAXSHBHN
KRB HEAR2021F4BIHZAE ©

AT R2022FE11B25HIEH BB E
ENEEREARIANAEERA128318 °
AREARNTZHABFEELEHEBRIT—
o NATR20224E128298  ETIRAR
BRERZZEELRZEBRHEAR > LUfE
BIETEE LRRENBE12H3MBLEZEA
M EE BRI EBRENALE B
A2022F 128298 2 RE

LG ERERSNAPEZEE L
RERBREZEIIROT

The actual
Business type The annual cap ~ transaction amount
EBEE FELR BERXAEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FTHET
Products and logistics services L EBEEERAERRMHN
provided by SPHL Group to EmRYRRERS
the Group 5,250 -
Products and logistics services FEER LBBEEFRRMEN
provided by the Group to SPHL Group 7 i R )i B iR AR S 18,000 17,168
Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, INEDs have 1R ¥ £ AR Bl 5514A.551% » B IL IEH
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed — {TEEEHER LMITEMERS > LK

that:

1. these transactions were in the Group’s ordinary and usual
course of business;

2. these transactions were entered into on normal commercial
terms; and

1. ZEXZARTERZ—MRKEE
EEBBERET,

2. ZEXRZE-MEERWN

Ulll‘

pl
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3. these transactions were carried out in accordance
with respective agreement terms which were fair and
reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young have provided a letter to
the Board confirming that the above continuing connected transactions:

1. have received the approval of the Board;

2. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions; and

3. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcement(s).

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken
by the Group in its normal course of business are set out in notes 30
and 33 to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions which constituted continuing connected transactions/
connected transactions under the Listing Rules which are set out in the
section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions” above and complied with Chapter 14A.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
based on their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments
of the Directors are reviewed by the remuneration committee, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. No Director or any of his associates and
executive is involved in dealing his own remuneration.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

3. ZEFEXZWBAEMIBGRIFRE
7> MEASFERBLRATEE > I
HEERBRBRRZERENE -

AT ZZHEMZ K ESHEIEFRE
MESGRM DR > B2 LR ER
BR5

1. KHEFEHE;

2. DIRBREZEXZZEMWE
5135 &

3. UHEEBABFTASKREZLE
MR o

2N A B) B AR 1) Bk 32 P 2 32 1% B BT B8 14
ZElZ o

FEALRS

FEBRNRBEEBBREEPETZIEXR
MEATRZZHBHIINGEMBRRE
Pi5E30/%33 1B EHARRIIR T Z FERAE
RZ/ HEXZZHAEALIRZEEN L
HRTAERZRFERERZIBH > LB
BT EHRAFUVAEZIRE ©

FrEME R

FEEREEZHFMBRDEAER
B BRKRENTE - EFZHM T HF
MEEETER L2EARTZEEE
BEARRRABLERZ TSGR o 8
BEREHRZEMBMEAN > URITHAER
SHEREHAZ ZHM

BhiBERE
AT Z ERMA K S B SEBIHR

BEMEERATDAESEREHREMR
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules throughout the
Period.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the nine months ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by
Ernst & Young who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM
to re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2023

Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)
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AMBLENERZHBHRECKEALKE
sTEME N EZ > LK GsHEIEHFRE
MER TEERKBAEEERME - IR
ERRBFAEG LRIZE-RRBEUE
BL kG EHA AT QT 2% o

REEFE
RAREXBRRF

BXiE
EFR

&E# > 2023538238

3R 2022 (82022412831 ALEAER)

o7



58 EEEEEEEE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CEVE 7 e

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY =«

To the shareholders of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tianda
Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 65 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the nine months ended
31 December 2022, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the nine months ended 31 December
2022 in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

EES=hRNES
EBHRBREEITIN
A3 — FE2748

Tel ERE: +852 2846 9888
Fax 8 E: +852 2868 4432
ey.com
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

[ ]

Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEHNFAEEAREFE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets

BERACHEEEERETG

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had goodwill on acquisition of
subsidiaries and other intangible assets with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$95.9 million and HK$6.1 million, respectively.

12022128310 » BEEERKEMRBARKECERLEE
2 4 AV 75 B BR & 88 20 Bl 49 4595,900,0007% 7T 526,100,000

JT ©

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and other intangible
assets included:

B EEREEELEERE 2GR
FFaiE

() engaged our internal valuation expert
to evaluate the valuation methodologies
adopted by management and the terminal
growth rates and discount rates applied;

() ZARFANABHEEXTLEERE
REZHERERERAZKAGRE
RITEFER ;
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Key audit matter

FEEtEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEHNFAEEARELFE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

BERECEYEERETE (F)

The Group’s management performed impairment assessment of
goodwill and other intangible assets related to the cash-generating units
(“CGUs") by estimating the recoverable amount based on value-in-use
calculations. The value in use of the CGUs was determined by
management based on the operating cash flow forecasts of the CGUs,
which required the use of key assumptions including the budgeted
revenue, budgeted gross margin and expected growth rate based on
management’s business plan on operation of the CGUs, the current
market circumstances and management’s expectation of the market
development, as well as suitable discount rates.
EEFEEEREERABEABATROSEMY HERES
ELfEUAMNEERECETNEEETREN G - REE
TEMNNERAEEHEEERBREELBEUNKERER
EFEAEE  HPEECANIZRI[CEENEEEHIR
TELBEANKEEFABNAETRA - BEEFNXMNTER
BEX -BEamBBERNBEEEHMIZERMNTER > UKE
ERARIRE o

Given the subjectivity of estimates and management judgement in
the impairment assessment and the material amounts involved, we
considered this area to be important to our audit.

b 5B R M BB ERT P R B IR BV S K T HI B WA K
PRI R EAREER > KRR UBEHRMNEAIFEEE -

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and the
disclosures of the balances of goodwill and other intangible assets are
included in notes 3, 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
FEGHHE ARG URBENECEN EEGHRNKESR
RS TSR R MIEES ~ 155016 o

(if)

(if)

(i)

(il

(iv)

(iv)

enquired of management in relation to the
key assumptions, and evaluated them by
benchmarking against historical results and/
or independent data;

PR ERRBATIER > LiEBRHEA
FEER B BIER LR UAE R
R

evaluated the historical accuracy of the
financial budgets and the growth rates used
in the discounted cash flows by comparing
the historical budgets to actual results;
BELERBEFRERELE R > 1B
TRRERENUYHRER BT 2R
MRFERAZIERE;

tested a selection of data inputs used in
the cash flow forecasts against supporting
evidence, such as historical financial
information, latest market information
and benchmarking companies’ financial
information; and
RIBXZFHMEER > NBEHBER
EMTBESMEERTNGRFBEE
B RS RERNRERNIEDE
B@A &

assessed the adequacy of the disclosure of
impairment assessment in the consolidated
financial statements.

LR SR BRERPBERBETEN
KREREEH -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included in
the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
GENVEE7 S e

. conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam, Wai Ming, Ada.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
23 March 2023
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Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

reiEmAHEEEWEmR

Nine months ended 31 December 2022 ZE 2022 12531 H LE/L1EH

Nine months Year
ended 31 ended 31
December 2022 March 2022
B E2022F  # F20226F
12H31H 3H31H
IEhEA IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P aE F#T FET
REVENUE KA 5 410,021 509,955
Cost of sales tHE A (221,380) (268,732)
Gross profit EF 188,641 241,223
Other income, gains and losses, net HEWA ~ RS RE5IE35E 5 9,761 16,805
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHZH (150,609) (198,003)
Administrative expenses THX N (63,528) (71,459)
Research and development expenses ez (27,112) (15,859)
Finance costs AL E A 7 (5,043) (725)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PRI AIES 18 6 (47,890) (28,018)
Income tax credit Frigfiig s 10 3,647 6,343
LOSS FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR HARFERSE (44,243) (21,675)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME EHE2& (§518) i
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that HRIEEBRIRI T EEN
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in DA R HEESEH
subsequent periods: (E518) Wz .
Changes in fair value of equity investments EEAERAAEBESAR
designated at fair value through other CEEREREZRAKEE
comprehensive income ZANBEEED (1,026) (5,105)
Exchange differences on translation of the MEARRBHFHERR
Company’s financial statements FREEZERERE (23,363) 5,908
(24,389) 803
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that RIEFEHFEEEMN 74
may be reclassified to profit or loss in ABRmzBAEE2EH
subsequent periods: (E518) W :
Release of exchange reserve upon HE— R E A SR ER
disposal of a subsidiary ZERGEE - (104)
Exchange differences on translation of HRENEB AR MBREK
subsidiaries’ financial statements FRELXZERELR (48,661) 26,033
(48,661) 25,929
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME  #HAf SEHE 2@
FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR (E518) W (73,050) 26,732
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)INCOME ~ ZsHAf EE2H
FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR (§548) Wi 488 (117,293) 5,057
continued / ...
B’ .
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeiEmAHEEEWmR

Nine months ended 31 December 2022 ZE 2022 12531 H LE/L1EH

Nine months Year
ended 31 ended 31
December 2022 March 2022
#B=E20228F  HE20225F

12H31H 3H31H
IEh@EAR IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P aE F#T FHET
Loss for the period/year attributable to: FELZASHARE FERIE -
Owners of the parent BRERKE (40,977) (19,771)
Non-controlling interests JEER (3,266) (1,904)
(44,243) (21,675)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income L2 mE (55i8) e
attributable to: “axE
Owners of the parent BREKE (111,293) 5,635
Non-controlling interests JEER R (6,000) (578)
(117,293) 5,057
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BAREBEE/KAEA HK cent HK cent
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE LSRR Es 15 Al AL
PARENT
Basic and diluted BEXRKRIEE 12 (1.91) (0.92)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ErETIRR

At 31 December 2022 £ 20224125315

Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)

31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20224 20224F
12H31H 3H31H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt &£ F#Ex TFET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRRKHE 13 352,442 382,492
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 14(a) 48,066 50,593
Goodwill mE 15 95,948 106,214
Other intangible assets HeEBFEE 16 6,126 21,937
Deposits BE 20 26,972 23,702
Equity investments designated at fair value EEABRARBESARE
through other comprehensive income EEWEZREKRE 17 741 1,767
Total non-current assets ERFEEME 530,295 586,705
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories 78 18 48,193 74,894
Trade and bills receivables FEE AT AR R Rz B LT 2= 4% 19 138,752 141,744
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ FE{IFRIE ~ & K
HE R 20 26,385 12,223
Due from a fellow subsidiary FE—FERRMBATRE  33(b) 1,399 -
Structured deposits EEMEER 21 3,167 14,583
Cash and cash equivalents & RIREEEER 22 340,277 334,002
Total current assets MENEE&AE 558,173 577,446
CURRENT LIABILITIES HEAE
Trade payables F& < BR =X 23 71,340 105,174
Other payables and accruals HeRAMRKESER 24 207,330 95,444
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HEIRITER 25 64,674 57,259
Lease liabilities HE&RE 14(b) 5,630 4,603
Due to fellow subsidiaries ENIEEN = VNS B8] 33(c) 9,734 4,936
Tax payable FE{IHRIE 3,717 4,243
Total current liabilities mEh B ELAEE 362,425 271,659
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEEE 195,748 305,787
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT wEERRBER
LIABILITIES 726,043 892,492
continued / ...
L=
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
EEEIRR

At 31 December 2022 £ 20224125315

31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20224F 20224F
12H31H 3H31H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P EE F#ET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREIER
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s RIBITEMR 25 61,972 90,634
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 8,774 7,937
Deferred income IRIEUR A 93 194
Deferred tax liabilities RERBEEE 26 962 4,652
Total non-current liabilities ERENBREELE 71,801 103,417
NET ASSETS BEFE 654,242 789,075
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BARRKREGLE TS
Share capital [ 27 215,004 215,004
Reserves HiE 28 412,827 541,750
627,831 756,754
Non-controlling interests JEER = 26,411 32,321
TOTAL EQUITY RExiREE 654,242 789,075
Fang Wen Quan Lui Man Sang
B XIE aX&E
Chairman Executive Director
BEER HITEE
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Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Mine months ended 37 December 2022 B E 20224E 12531 H 1L /1185

Attributable to owners of the parent

BLARREL
Capital Capital Far  Exchange Non-
Share Share  redemption  contribution Special  Statutory value  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capitl -~ premium TESeIVe TeSeNVe Teserve Teserve Teserve Teserve profits Totdl  interests equity
HRRE  ERHR DAEE  ESEE itk
B kiR i i FURE tEHE it i REE iy 20
HKSO00  HKSOD0  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSODD  HKSO00
TR TEn  TEm  TEn  TEm T TEm  TEr  TEm  TEn TEm TR
ALt Aprl 2028 ROEAB1R 215,004 365,103 o7 8,959 3460 30662 (485 (%765 16125t 75,109 33786 19049
Loss for the year KEERE - - - - - - - N £ N " R Y111
Othr comprehensiv incomelos) FEEACRENE/
forthe yeer. (ER):
Cranges nfa vale of equiy ERARLABEARE
vesinents desraed atfanvalie.  2EKEZRAE
through oter compshensive neome. R EZARBEES - - - - - - [ - N ] B ]
Release o exchangereserve upon REE-BREADERY
disposal of a sbsiday ERGE - - - - - - - (104) - (104) - (104)
Exchange dffrences o bransaionof ~ REHRBRAEE
financiel ltements ERER - - - - - - - s SO (/T
Totel comprehensve comelos) KEERENE/ (BB
frbe e 45 - - - - - SBE WS s @y 5
Captlconrbuton fom FERERIE
non-confroling inferests - - - - - - - - - - 100 100
Transfer {0 reserve BHEHE - - - - - f - - ] - - -
Finldhidends for yer ended BEREENEIENA
3 Mrch 2021 delared HEEZREBRE - - - - - - - - bM) G - )
Dividend pad o ron-controling neress ~ BATSERREGZ RS - - - - - - - - - - (987 ]
W N nd A2 RDESBMER
ANEIE1R 5004 36703 i §,959" 3 460° 30,863 (9967 (B4 15800 To67M 23 789,75
Lossfor e perid SHEE - - - - - - - BT Y Y
Othr comprehensive loss for e period: ~ AEIMEL2EER:
Cranges nfa vale of equiy ERARLABESA
invesinents desiraed atfanele  EE2EREZRE
though oher comprehensive ncome. B2 AAEEEE - - - - - -0 - - (i - (i
Eichange dfernces on rnsationof -~ BEHHRRFEEL
financiel staements ERZE = = = - - - - (69,290) - (69,290) o (0
Totlcomprehensive oss for heperod AW 2 AFELE - - - - - 1 I 1 11 1 4]
Captlconrbuton fom FERERTE
non-confroling inferests - - - - - - - - - - Ll Ll
Fine and speial didends foryear enced BETFEENREIRYAL
31 e 200 e EEJABRENRS - - - - - - - SR () -
At 31 December 2022 iR e 5008 35808 i §,050" 3460 88 (0% (st o 6T B4 654,242

*

* LEHRERESEAMBERIRANE
& #%412,827,00078 7T (2022438318 :
541,750,000 7T) ©

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$412,827,000 (31 March 2022: HK$541,750,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBERER

Nire months ended 37 December 2022 &6 20224 12531 H LE L 1E15

70 EEEEEEEE

Nine months Year
ended 31 ended 31
December 2022 March 2022
HE026F HE202028F
128318 3A31H
LthiER IHFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iE T#x FERT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & ZEFIBFRENE
Loss before tax PRI ATAS 18 (47,890) (28,018)
Adjustments for: TS EELZRE
Finance costs Y= 1% 7 5,043 725
Interest income FEWA 5 (3,258) (2,303)
(Gain)/loss on disposalfwrite-off of property, HE WHEME -BEK
plant and equipment Rz (W) BB 5 (934) 76
Impairment of goodwill HERE 5 - 1,577
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary, net HE—RHRBATHN
Wik o BB 30 = (12,101)
Impairment of financial assets, net TRBEEZRE FHE 6 558 451
Fair value losses/(gains), net: RAEERE (Kem) > 88!
Derivative instruments — transactions not TTEIR-
qualifying as hedges FREHNERZRS 5 - 343
Structured deposits EREER 5 (523) (668)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRREBINE 6 19,035 9,631
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBERE 6 4,492 5,567
Amortisation of other intangible assets HeEFEESH 6 14,160 6,951
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value iR 77 & E r] 8173 & 6 5,786 756
Recognition of government grants TSR B AT+ BN (86) (121)
(3,617) (17.134)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEERL,(gm) 14,425 (8,677)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills receivables ~ FEUBR TN K& FEUR Z 45
(&) /mD (10,972) 9,078
Increase in prepayments, deposits BARE - RER
and other receivables HE REUWERIE I (21,071) (9,526)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FEfTRRTR CRIZ) /10 (24,728) 13,411
Increase in other payables and accruals HERMHRKRESERIEM 123,774 14,003
Increase in amount due from a fellow subsidiary ~ FEUR—FER & KB A T
SRIAER (1,439) -
Increase in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FE 1T R 2 Y 8 A ) =R IE 35 A 5,408 1,142
Cash generated from operations EmBRRE 81,780 2,297
PRC taxes paid Bt PERIE (309) (9,797)
Interest paid BEFHE (5,043) (725)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities & &EEFRE,/ (FrA)
ZREREFE 76,428 (8,225)
continued / ...
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBIERER

Mine months ended 31 December 2022 5220224 12831 H 1L /1185

Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)

Nine months Year
ended 31 ended 31
December 2022 March 2022
HE202285 HZE2022F
12831 3A31H
Ith{ER ILFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
[iF FER FTET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHFRFRERE
Interest received B & 3,258 2,303
Capitalised portion of interest paid BT ENERLES 7 (572) (7,300)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME  BEKRRBEEE
plant and equipment ZFi8mIA 1,223 29
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHWEB AR ZMEMRE 30 - 151,897
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE BERRE (24,386) (46,458)
Proceeds from maturity of derivative instruments ~ $74 T B ZIHAFR G F0IE - 90,666
Investments in derivative instruments RITETRZEE - (91,022)
Proceeds from structured deposits REEBEERZAEHIE 113,242 221,907
Investments in structured deposits REBUERZERE (102,373) (235,672)
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities & & &%) (FiF) /Fri8 2
HEREFE (9,608) 86,350
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEIHFRERERE
Dividends paid BERE (17,625) (8,557)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ENEEREZZRE = (987)
Capital contributed by non-controlling interests FFERERTE 90 100
New bank loans MERTEN 16,152 33,458
Repayment of bank loans BERTEM (23,833) (20,882)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEERE (3,674) (4,427
Net cash flows used in financing activities MERFFMAZRERE 35 (28,890) (1,299)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERASEEFEEEMPELE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 37,930 76,830
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning RE/ ENzRER
of period/year REEEER 334,002 248,247
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SMEEXEH 2 E (F50) (31,655) 8,925
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RE FERZHAER
AT END OF PERIOD/YEAR R&%¥EEE 340,277 334,002
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERFEEEEBRERZOM
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RRERERIEKZ
statement of cash flows HehRE£EEIER 22 340,277 334,002
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

During the period, the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) were involved in the research and development,
manufacture and sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and
healthcare products and investment in the development of
Chinese medicine industry.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company is
Tianda Group Limited, a private limited company incorporated in
Hong Kong.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

AR REMER

AAREEBRAT (TXRRF) &
RASEEAMBIZERAR  H
RN EBHERZMERAT (MH
RFr1) £ o AAR Z kMM E R
4 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands °

AW > ARBRAEWB AR (T4
EH)REBE -EYRFERERZ
M - LEERBE  IREXRTE

EERD > *RENERERA
BINRBERABARAKEBRBRA
8] (REBEMMIINFAANBRAR) o

FRMEARZEY
FRABRETEMB AT ZER

follows: T
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
B&1T
SR, LR/ AT EM
a8 AR AT E R HAMES R i IEXH
Direct Indirect
E# i
Yunnan Meng Sheng People’s Republic RMB36,000,000 95 Research and
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd."" of China (‘PRC’) A E36,000,0007T development,
EHBREEERRAR Mainland China manufacture and sale of
hEA R pharmaceutical and
("B /HEX biotechnology products
3 BEREMHRRER
ZHRR - FHE
TERBEE

7?2 EEEEEEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

ATIREBREH @
ERMBABRZEN (@

Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
BT
M Lidh,/ TATEL
218 R AT E A HfER EmaaL TEER
Direct Indirect
Ef &
Tianda Pharmaceuticals PRC/ Mainland RMB 113,000,000/ - 100 Research and
(Zhuhai) Limited* China RMB126,000,000 development,
XAREX (K5 ERAF FE HEARE A RE113,000,0007T,/ manufacture and sale of
A E1#126,000,0007% pharmaceutical and
biotechnology products
BEREVRRER
2R HE
LERBHE
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Australia AUD1,000,000 - 100 Marketing, sale
(Australia) Pty Limited BARE 1,000,000 7t and distribution of
RAEE (RAFE) ERAE healthcare products
REERZITH
HERDH
Tianda Pharmaceuticals PRC/ Mainland HK$50,000,000 - 100 Research and
(China) Limited* China 50,000,000 75 development of
KABE (hE) BRAF HE B ARE pharmaceutical
products,

provision of intra-

group consulting
services and marketing,
sale and distribution

of healthcare products
BREERZMER
B RUEERNE
HARBEURRE
EmZiTi
HERDH
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

ATIREBREH @
ERAMBATIZER @)

Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
BT
M LiEk TAF L
21 RS E A HfER EZEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
i it
Tianda Chinese Medicine PRC/ Mainland RMB30,000,000/ - 100 Wholesale of
(China) Ltd.* China RMB50,000,000 Chinese herbal medicines,
RAHBE (HE) BRAR" HE/hEARE  AR30,0000005,/ traditional Chinese
A E#50,000,0007¢ medicine decoction
pieces and
Chinese medicines
FEM - RERRR
R B 3
Zhuhai Tianda Processed PRC/ Mainland RMB12,580,000/ - 100 Production and
Chinese Herbal Medicine Ltd.* China RMB50,000,000 sale of traditional
BEXAPEREERAT FE/FERE ARE12,5800007, Chinese medicine
AR #50,000,0007T decoction pieces and
trading of agricultural
by-products
hEGREE
RIHE UK
REIEMNEE
TDMall (Zhuhai) Limited? PRC/ Mainland RMB13,040,000/ - 100 Provision of
BERAEFRAT China RMB100,000,000 traditional Chinese
REREAME A RH13040,0007, medicine clinical
AR #£4100,000,0007C services and sale

of Chinese medicine
products

R ERTE
RHEREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. REREEEH @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMBARZER (@
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
BET
HEMmIL LiEk TAFREL
%18 BRIy R HMES BmERL TEEH
Direct Indirect
EiE &
TDMall (China) Limited* PRC/ Mainland RMB25,330,000/ - 100 Investment holding
KK (FE) BRAF China RMB100,000,000 REER
EREIARE | R 1253300005,/
A E100,000,0007T
TDMall (Tsim Sha Tsui) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,900,000 - 90 Provision of
KA (RDIE) BIRAF &8 1,900,000 7 traditional Chinese
medicine clinical
services and sale
of Chinese medicine
products
REEPERH K
HEPEER
TDMall (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of
RKE (BB)BRAR &B 10,0003 7T traditional Chinese
medicine clinical
services and sale
of Chinese medicine
products
R ER
RFEREER
* Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law * REFEZEEAMZIIIEBEELE
# Incorporated as a cooperative enterprise # MBI ASIELE
A A limited liability company established under PRC law A RERBEEMRIINERAS
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company ERINBEET A FHRAE
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the BXEETEXERNIERLEREE
results for the period or formed a substantial portion of the net FETFTELMHELTMB LT - =
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, ABEEWB AT ZEBRIIHE
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive SEEBNRTE -
length.
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76 EESEEEEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
and structured deposits which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Change of financial year end date

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board dated 25 November
2022, the financial year end date of the Company has been
changed from 31 March to 31 December commencing from
the financial period ended 31 December 2022 in order to align
the financial year end date with that of the principal operating
subsidiaries of the Company, which are statutorily required to
fix their financial year end date at 31 December in the PRC.
Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements
for the current financial period covers a period of nine months
from 1 April 2022 to 31 December 2022. The corresponding
comparative figures presented for the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash
flows and related notes cover the audited figures of the financial
year from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 and therefore are not
comparable with those shown for the current period.
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the nine
months ended 31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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2.2
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current period’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with
a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”)
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing
its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle
for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework
to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability.
The exception specifies that, for liabilities and
contingent liabilities that would be within the scope
of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively
to business combinations that occurred on or after
1 April 2022. As there were no material contingent
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities within the
scope of the amendments arising in the business
combination that occurred during the period, the
amendments did not have any material impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES

(continued)

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below: (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items as determined by
HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use
on or after 1 April 2021. Since there was no material
sale of items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments
did not have any material impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for
an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to
the counterparty under the contract. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to contracts
for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1
April 2022 and no onerous contracts were identified.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below: (continued)

(d)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.
Details of the amendments that are applicable to the
Group are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has
applied the amendment prospectively from 1 April
2022. As there was no modification or exchange of
the Group’s financial liabilities during the period, the
amendment did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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23 |ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements.

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKFRS 10 and HKAS  an Investor and its Associate or Joint
28 (2011) Venture®

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to Insurance Contracts™®
HKFRS 17

Amendment to Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 17 HKFRS 9 - Comparative Information®

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current (the “2020

Amendments”)% *

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
HKAS 1 (the “2022 Amendments”)?

Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates’
HKAS 8
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of

the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020
Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

® As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of HKFRS 17
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23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, in particular the determination
over whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the
liabilities for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability.
The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered
a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the
2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect
the classification of that liability as current or non-current. In
addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures by
an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements
as non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of those
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether existing
loan agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to
ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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24

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @
(continued)
Fair value measurement AREBEEE

The Group measures its certain bills receivable, structured
deposits and equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:
Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly
Level 3- based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

2.4

TEGHBERE @

[EEE @
RMBRERPAENRELAAE
EZFEEERERNEBAREE
STEERRMEBEAZKBEEBARK
BRUTARBESFTHRIE

F1k— ERERBEENREGERE

BB HE (RERE)

ERHAABENEMS
BEAZIHE (HiZHHE
B REBRAREZGE
Bk

F2MR—

ERHAABENEMS
BEAZAITERRERE
WMABBZEERZE

B3R —

IR E R ER M RRER
ZEEREREMS  ZEBEBNE
REHREMAEIH ERHBIR
BEFEEEMESBERZRERER
AR BEERSREREAFHRES -

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)

89



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

24

90 ESEEEEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing
a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g. a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to
the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(1)

(ii)

(i)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(1)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

24 FET

REAL
ETRIER  — AR RAEAE
EARE

(@)

STEUEREEE (@)

ZAR/—BATHZAL

zi

#om&xAL

HAEEEAZEHE
B HRERIHE

HAEBAAERT
- VAR

AEEEHIEBAT
ZEFEEREASR;

ZALA/TE TIEREF
rzEE

ZERRAEEER
—&ENKERT ;

—BAA S (X
B—HB2HAH
I 8 2 B0 SR F) 22 1
AR) ZHEARRE
B ;

RRAKEERSR
ZHZAERE;

§I(I+
ﬂ?ﬂﬂ

RA—R%=A
ZRERE-M
RARE=ZR

BERT

| &

yﬂﬂ 30 g |
folE
[N

ZEBEATEENH
TEBRARAENER
# B 818 F M 5% 89 B
BERENEE

ZBERR@THRAL
PER S EES

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)

91



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(vij a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

3% to 10%

10% to 33.3% or over the lease
terms, whichever rate is higher

5% to 10%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and 10% to 20%
equipment
Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial period/year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @
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(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial period/year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Licences and permits

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 13 years.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products
not exceeding ten years, commencing from the date when the
products are put into commercial production.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities and are
separately disclosed on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Over the lease terms of

47 to 50 years
Clinics, offices and warehouses Over the lease terms of
3 to 5 years

Leasehold land

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from
a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEZHBEHME @
(continued)
Investments and other financial assets Fﬁ&ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂﬁé
Initial recognition and measurement BHXEERE

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
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component are measured at the transaction price determined IR BB FREEAFIS5RET
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for ZRGERTE
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured AEEMEEREHR A REA

at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate (‘EIR”) method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as
a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not subject to impairment assessment.
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10 ESEEEEERSE

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. This
category includes bills receivable, derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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17 EEEEEEERE

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 60 to 180 days past due. The Group
has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default based
on reasonable and supportable information, including the Group’s
credit risk control practices and the historical recovery rate of
financial assets over 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has assessed the credit risk exposure that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @
(continued)
Financial liabilities ERBE
Initial recognition and measurement BEXEZARE

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised
cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost method
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(a)  Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and
Chinese medicine products
Revenue from the sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology,
healthcare and Chinese medicine products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the pharmaceuticals,
biotechnology, healthcare and Chinese medicine products.

(b)  Provision of Chinese medical services

Revenue from the provision of Chinese medical services
is recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
from services provided by the Group.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Customer membership program

The Group operates a customer membership program
which entitles customers to use the credit on future consultation
of Chinese medical services and purchases of Chinese
medicines. No expiry dates are attached to the extra credits.
The obligation to provide the right to the customer is therefore a
separate performance obligation.

The transaction price is allocated between the provision
of Chinese medical services and extra credits on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The stand-alone selling price of
each extra credit is estimated based on the right to be given when
the extra credits are redeemed by the customer.

A contract liability is recognised for the unexercised rights
relating to the membership program at the time of the initial
sales transaction. Revenue from the membership program is
recognised when the extra credits are redeemed by the customer.
Revenue for extra credits that are not expected to be redeemed is
recognised in the proportion to the pattern of rights exercised by
the customers.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or
services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e. transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is different from the Company’s functional currency, Renminbi
(“RMB”). As the shares of the Company are listed on the
Stock Exchange, for the convenience of users of the financial
statements, the results and financial position of the Group are
expressed in HKS$. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of
a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the HK$. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements
of profit or loss are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of the Company and overseas subsidiaries
are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these entities
which arise throughout the period/year are translated into HK$ at
the weighted average exchange rates for the period/year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the management
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2022 was
HK$95,948,000 (31 March 2022: HK$106,214,000). Further
details are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit using key assumptions such as
forecasted growth rates and budgeted gross margins and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The carrying amounts of non-financial assets
other than goodwill are set out in notes 13, 14 and 16 to the
financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables

The measurement of expected credit losses under
HKFRS 9 on trade and other receivables requires judgements,
in particular, for the estimations of the amount and timing of
future cash flows when determining impairment losses, and
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk for other
receivables. These estimates are affected by a number of factors,
changes in which can result in different allowance amounts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables (continued)

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex
models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding
the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. The
significant estimates involved in the determination of the inputs
applied in the ECL models include: the Group’s internal credit
grading, which assigns probabilities of default to the individual
grades; the segmentation of trade receivables based on risk
characteristics of the customers; development of ECL models,
including the various formulas and the choice of inputs over
determination of loss given default of the credit exposures;
determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios
and economic inputs, and the effect on probabilities of default,
exposures at default and losses given default; and selection of
forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability
weightings, to derive the economic inputs into the ECL models.
It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models
in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary. Further details of the ECL provision for trade and
other receivables are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the managing director of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”),
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance, focuses on the types of goods or services
delivered, being the Chinese medicine business, pharmaceuticals
and medical technologies business and medical and healthcare
services. The CODM monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. In addition, the
CODM monitors the Group’s assets and liabilities as a whole, and
accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are presented.

Segment performance is evaluated based on segment profit
or loss, which is a measure of adjusted loss/profit before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s loss/profit before tax except that the allocation of central
administration costs, certain other income, gains and losses are
excluded from such measurement.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Nine months ended 31 December 2022

4,

REFBEHE 3
#=E2022512831H LN EB

Pharmaceuticals

Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Total
hRE BENNRE BEN
£% BIREH FER? et
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
TERx TERx FiER FEx
Segment revenue: FEPULA
Sales to external customers RN EFIHE 54,078 344,717 11,226 410,021
Intersegment sales D EEHE 1,591 2,265 - 3,856
55,669 346,982 11,226 413,877
Reconciliation: Bk
Elimination of intersegment sales RO BRHE (3,856)
Revenue WA 410,021
Segment results DEEER (9,771) (22,024) (7,599) (39,394)
Reconciliation: ik
Other income, gains and losses, net ~ HE WA « &
REEREE 3,451
Corporate and other tEREE
unallocated expenses RNECHZ (11,947)
Loss before tax BREAIES 1B (47,890)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. REFBEE @)
Nine months ended 31 December 2022 (continued) HZEF202F1283101EAEA (8)
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business husiness services Unallocated Total
hRE BNnEE BRM
E3] REER RS RAE EH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn F#n T#n TE&Rr T&Rr
Other segment information: HERBEH:
Interest income FEKA 42 370 9 2,837 3,258
Depreciation and amortisation EREH 621 32,302 1,667 3,007 37,687
Finance costs HERK - 4,556 12 375 5,043
Capital expenditure* BAEY 459 24,460 5,679 = 30,598
* Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and * BEABEYEEME BERSHEUR
equipment and right-of-use assets. FREBEEZRE °
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE2025383MBLEE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Total
hEE  RYNES BEA ‘
E$ PR ER RIERT fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
Segment revenue: SEPUIA :
Sales to external customers mSM R P EH & 106,491 396,113 7,351 509,955
Intersegment sales DEEHE 1,057 388 - 1,445
107,548 396,501 7,351 511,400
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment sales &85 2RI SH & (1,445)
Revenue WA 509,955
Segment results NEREE (4,979) (10,985) (10,350) (26,314)
Reconciliation: AR
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHREAQR
Al & 12,101
Other income, gains and losses, net EEUA
Wi K 5 18 8 5 2,047
Corporate and other unallocated TtERHEE
expenses AN (15,852)
Loss before tax MR ATES R (28,018)
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. REFHEE @®m
Year ended 31 March 2022 (continued) HZE2022F38318 L FE (48)
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Unallocated Total
mRE  BEYHNEE BEM
£3% RS ES REEIRT NN st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TAT TR TR TAT

Other segment information: ~ EEAEH :

Interest income FIEBA 8 356 6 1,933 2,303
Impairment of goodwil BHERE - 1577 - - 1,577
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7 R 54 872 15,365 1,722 4190 22,149
Finance costs R M A - - 60 665 725
Capital expenditure” EEha 1,336 51,882 1,632 13 54,893
* Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and ' iﬁzl:r%_s'z@%%ﬁ BB R sk A
equipment and right-of-use assets. FEREEEZRE -
Geographical information Hhis =g
(a)  Revenue from external customers (a) KREIFEEZHUA
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#E20224 B E20224
12H31H 3H31H
IEhEAR IEEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Ex FET
Mainland China =lEi NS 403,580 505,953
Hong Kong B5E 5,781 3,636
Australia AR R 660 366
410,021 509,955
The revenue information of operations above is based on U EEEZWABRURRTE
the locations of the customers. AR % o
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information (continued)
(b) Non-current assets

REJEBEE @

i EE (@
b) FHRBEE

Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)

31 December 31 March

2022 2022

20224F 20224F

12831H 3H31H

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#Ex FET

Mainland China ] A B 519,259 569,939
Hong Kong and Macau BB KR 10,281 14,983
Australia B A F 58 14 16
529,554 584,938

The non-current assets information of operations above
is based on the locations of the assets and excludes equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

Information about a major customer

Revenue of approximately HK$43,133,000 was derived
from sales by the Chinese medicine business segment and
pharmaceutical and medical technologies business segment to a
single customer, including sales to a group of entities which are
known to be under common control with that customer during the
period ended 31 December 2022. The corresponding revenue in
year ended 31 March 2022 did not contribute over 10% of total
revenue of the Group.

U EEEZFRHEEEHUE
EFEMAEE  BAGUEEERAR
AREBEEFAECEERTZRER
o

BER—RETEERZEH
#943,133,00078 TTHY IR A 2k B &
BEERITUREYNEBR
BORHE—FENHEE » 81FEE
202F12B31HILEAMEENEZE
ESHEZEHN—HERNHEE - 8
F202253831H IEFEE BB A I
HFEALAEBKA0%IIA L o
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5.

120 I ESEEEEERE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 5. WA -HEWA - Wk KkiESE2EE
An analysis of revenue is as follows: BRABAZZHUWT :
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#HE20225F HE20224
12831 3H31H
IlEAEAR IEEFEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Revenue from contracts with customers EREHIRA
Sale of pharmaceuticals, THE B
biotechnology and healthcare products EYRERREESR 344,717 396,113
Sale of Chinese medicine products HEPBEER 61,146 110,189
Provision of Chinese medical services B AR 4,158 3,653
410,021 509,955
Revenue from contracts with customers ER “n:’n‘_.‘a“'i A )
Disaggregated revenue information (i) HBPIHFZHUAEN
For the nine months ended 31 December 2022 HF20225612A3181LhER
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine  technologies healthcare
Segments business business services Total
ZMm
BERH BEM
2 R E A £3% REERRT et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiERx FiER FiERT FiERx
Types of goods or services SR ER
Sale of products HEEM 54,078 344,717 7,068 405,863
Chinese medical services B R - - 4,158 4,158
Total revenue from contracts with ~ BB &4 A M EE
customers 54,078 344,717 11,226 410,021
Geographical markets i v 47
Mainland China R A 54,078 344,285 5,217 403,580
Hong Kong 54 - 274 5,507 5,781
Australia BAH R - 158 502 660
Total revenue from contracts with ~ B R SN ALLE
customers 54,078 344,717 11,226 410,021
Timing of revenue recognition WA Z BRI
Goods transferred at a point in time R ERRER 7 &R 54,078 344717 7,068 405,863
Services rendered over time R—EREEIRME 2 R - - 4,158 4,158
Total revenue from contracts ERANRAEE
with customers 54,078 344,717 11,226 410,021
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arETRRMEE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

5.  REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 5. WA - HEUA -~ S REIER8E

(continued) (#8)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EREHBA &
()  Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) HBPHEZWAEZH &)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE202538MBILFE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
Segments business business services Total
&l
BEHK BE
px: RBELK 2B NRERHB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Types of goods or services EmERFEER
Sale of products HEEMR 106,491 396,113 3,698 506,302
Chinese medical services RERT - - 3,653 3,653
Total revenue from contracts with customers 25 5 & 49 U A 4B %8 106,491 396,113 7351 509,955
Geographical markets hig 15
Mainland China B KB 106,491 395,450 4012 505,953
Hong Kong 58 - 508 3128 3,63
Australia JBAF TR - 155 211 366
Total revenue from contracts with customers 25 & & 49 U A 4B %8 106,491 396,113 7351 509,955
Timing of revenue recognition WA B8 S8 Z BF R 1
Goods transferred at a point in time RERERER 2 G 106,491 396,113 3,698 506,302
Services rendered over time R—EEERHZ
AR %5 - - 3,653 3,653
Total revenue from contracts with customers 25 & & 49 U A 4B %8 106,491 396,113 7351 509,955
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included in
the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

WA~ HEWA - Wi B R518FER
(%)

EEGHBA @®

(i) BERHEZIHAEZH (B
TRETNAHZSHEERME

SARSHIZENEEMERRZ

WA EEE -

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#E20224F #Hz2022
12831 3B31H
IEh{ER IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Er TFET
Revenue recognised that was included in Bt AIREHIFI 2
contract liabilities at the beginning EHEBEZERTWA
of the reporting period:
Sale of products and medical services ~ $HE & &I B EIRTS 13,898 11,720

(ii)  Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and

Chinese medicine products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and Chinese
medicine products and payment is generally due within 60 to 180
days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required.

(i) BAEE
BERAEERNEEZERER
mE

HEBE  LYRIE - RERT

BzER

BHEERTHEBE -EYHR
R-RERPEEERNER > BN
— M AR T B HAE 5160 180K A F
H HHREA—RATFEMLRIE

(WP < AEELERAR
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

5.  REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 5. WA - HEUA -~ S REIER8E

(continued) (#8)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EREHBA &
(i)  Performance obligations (continued) (i) BAEIEE (&)
Provision of Chinese medical services e HP RIS
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as A B E R 1R (AR 75 B B e e =
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon B RRIE—RNE P IRAEZ T

customer acceptance.

An analysis of other income, gains and losses, net, is as BRHETERA ~ K REIEFEE
follows: ZoWmuTE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#E20225 HE20228F
12H31H 3H31H
IEh@ER IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other income HEWA
Bank interest income RITF 2 U A 3,258 2,303
Government subsidies* B T & Bh* 4,084 2,070
Forfeiture of trade deposits BWEZHE 669 -
Others = 448 588
8,459 4,961
Gains and losses, net 1 §59-3 <3 - PEEE
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBARZKE
(note 30) (Pf$3£30) - 12,101
Fair value (losses)/gains, net: NAEE (BB WP
Derivative instruments — transactions T4 T A — A& H
not qualifying as hedges BRZR% = (343)
Structured deposits ERMEER 523 668
Foreign exchange differences, net ShEEZEER  BRE (155) 1,071
Gain/(loss) on disposal/write-off of HE MEME - BERK
property, plant and equipment ®Ez W (B18) 934 (76)
Impairment of goodwill (note 15) &R E (MisE15) - (1,577)
1,302 11,844
9,761 16,805
* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to * It A R L S /BN 2 M R IR AR
these grants. HRHEEIE -

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. PFRIRAIESIE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging: REEZFRAIREELNR
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
i F20226F B Z20225F
12831H 3831H
IEhER IEEE
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
MisE F#Ex FET
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEEZHEK 215,594 267,976
Depreciation of property, ME - -BEKRREINE
plant and equipment 13 19,035 9,631
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fF BB EFE 14(a) 4,492 5,567
Amortisation of other HemrEEgE
intangible assets 16 14,160 6,951
Write-down of inventories to net WREEEERFE
realisable value** 5,786 756
Research and development costs ~ Aff 22 i 7= 27,112 15,859
Lease payments not included inthe M ABIFEHEAGEE
measurement of lease liabilities ZHEEMR 14(c) 1,556 1,403
Auditor’s remuneration 1% EREMEN = 1,575 1,458
Employee benefit expenses EERAMAX (BIEEEK
(including directors’ and chief FETHRASME
executive’s remuneration (note 8)):  (Fff3¥8)) :
Wages and salaries T & R 5N 58,362 65,005
Pension scheme contributions* IRNE T8I H R 6,200 8,107
64,562 73,112
Impairment of financial assets, net: & FIE EREFEE -
Impairment of trade and bills FE Wit BR 0 e FE W R 4
receivables, net BE > 3R 19 468 436
Impairment of financial assets ST ATEMRIA ~
included in prepayments, BERETCERKZRZ
deposits and other receivables, net ETMEERE > 35 20 90 15
558 451
* During the nine months ended 31 December 2022 and year ended * # 20226128318 L L8 B K&20224F
31 March 2022, the Group had no forfeited contributions under the 3E3MALFE » AEEL BIBRIRAA
retirement benefits scheme utilised to reduce the existing levels ‘AW HRR > UAEREIRE
of contributions. As at 31 December 2022 and 31 March 2022, the R FRIK T 0 7220225128318 K202245
Group had no material forfeited contributions available to reduce the 38318 » AEE M R|E AR UM
contributions in the future. HEBINEERZA -
** The balance is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated ** ERTAGEIER RN EERAE] °

statement of profit or loss.
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. FAERA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MERAZ SN :
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#HE20225F B 20224
128318 3831H
IEhEAR IEEFEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Interest on bank loans RITEFZHE 5,128 7,300
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGZIE 487 725
Total interest expense FER X 48%8 5,615 8,025
Less: Interest capitalised B BEBEREZFE (572) (7,300)
5,043 725
8. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. FETHABRESME

Chief executive’s and directors’ remuneration for the period/
year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

RiE EHEA ~ FBQEEEE
383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ () R(MEU KA E) (3%
BESHNRER) ROIF25 I E AR
M/ FEZEFETHAERESMNE
mE:

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
i F20226 B = 20226F
12H31H 3H31H
IEAER IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#EwxT FAET
Fees wE 315 449

35 2022 (#Z=2022€12831 8 1EES) [RPR)
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

8. CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. FETHASREZEEME @

(continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) WIIERITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors H/ EFRAENMFEILIERNITES
during the period/year were as follows: ZHEWT
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#HE20225 #Hz:2022
12H31H 3H31H
Ith@EA8 IEEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#E FHET
Mr. Lam Yat Fai mHEERE 54 72
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERLE 54 72
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa M ESLE 54 72
162 216
There were no other emoluments payable to the HALEREMNFREIIIFNITES
independent non-executive directors during the period (year ZEHEEME (B E202F3831HIEE
ended 31 March 2022: Nil). E | o
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

8. CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8. FETHAESREZEEME @

(continued)
(b) The chief executive, an executive director and non- (b) FEFTHAS - ITEFERIEH
executive directors TEE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
HE202024F B ZE20224F
12831 3A31H
IlEhEAR IEEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Chief executive: FETHAES
Mr. Fang Wen Quan AXRERE 45 60
Executive director: HITES
Mr. Lui Man Sang BXERE 54 72
Non-executive directors: JEHITESE :
Mr. Shen Bo LR A& 54 72
Mr. Feng Quanming BERELE - -
Dr. Lam Lee G MKREEL
(retired on 26 August 2021) (72202158 H26 H iR 1) - 29
54 101
Total directors’ remuneration EEME4EE 153 233
There was no arrangement under which a director or the H/ FATERSEEHIFETHA
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration BREIRBREERAME ZZHE -

during the period/year.
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EERRMEE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

9.  FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. AREEHMES
HRAEREHFNEERSIET
fAIEE (B E202F3831HILEEE :
#) > HEN S5 L HizEs - Hi R
AR (HE202F383HLEEE &
BN IEARBDESTHEETHAE
ZEReanMES S BWT .

The five highest paid employees during the period did not
include any director (year ended 31 March 2022: Nil), details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the period of the five (year ended 31 March
2022: five) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#HE20224F B 20226
128318 38318
IEhER IEFE
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#Ex TFET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind N SRR REYH S 4,327 3,770
Performance-related bonuses BERAEA = 89
Pension scheme contributions BRAREEIMER 68 66
4,395 3,925

A= B AT 4B R ML IFE R K
TIREETHRABZRESHMESZ

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

128

bands is as follows: ASWTF -
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#F20226 B = 20226F
12H31H 3H31H
IEh{ER ILFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&xT TAT
Nil to HK$1,000,000 #£ 21,000,000 7T 4 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t Z1,500,00078 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t Z22,000,00078 7T -
5 5

RAAREARAE
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

10.

INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax, Macau
complementary tax and Australia income tax have been made
as the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong, Macau and Australia during the period (year ended
31 March 2022: Nil). Tax on profits assessable in Mainland
China has been calculated at the applicable Mainland China
corporate income tax (“CIT”) rate of 25% (year ended 31 March
2022: 25%), except for Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) Ltd.
(“Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)’) and Yunnan Meng Sheng
Pharmaceutical Limited (“Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical”),
subsidiaries of the Group. Pursuant to the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) is
qualified as an advanced technology enterprise and has obtained
approvals from the relevant tax authorities for a preferential tax
rate of 15% for a period of 3 years up to December 2022. Meng
Sheng Pharmaceutical is established in the Kunming Economic
and Technological Development Zone. Pursuant to relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC, Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical
is engaged in the Western China Development Strategy and
is entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% during the period
(year ended 31 March 2022: 25%). Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

10. FRi5#

HRAEBRETHATEEES
BEARBAMNEEETAERR G
o> B EmAEL FEFEHR - BRI
BHAERERBRFMTANESRESE (B
F2NEIAINBHLLERE [ ) o frAE
BB AR RKEE (BB BRATE
(TRREE (B8 ) hREEBREREE
BREAE (TEEEZE)) I RPEK
RETEFE R IR B A MU 2 R IE - ThIRIR
BERPBEKESEFRER (TREMRE
1) 1 Z25% (B £2022%F3H831H Lk
FE :25%) 518 o IREFEZHEEAE
BRER  RREE (B8 a8
B EENK » ESERAREEKEL
EREEREGWER  AR=F
BEW2F12AAIE - BEEERIL
RERTKESMHAZEE - RIFPE
BIAER AR RAR » BBAEEEHRES
| 75 20 A B B5 B > WA RN BT 3% B
E IR F15% (B F2022E3831H L &
£ : 25%) #478 - Heth & ERR R
MzRIBEERAEBLEREREE
B ERIREHE -

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#E20225F #Hz20225
12H31H 3H31H
IEhEA8 IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Current — Mainland China BDHRA — AR [ K B
Charge for the period/year AR EEL T 541 1,361
Overprovision in prior years UEFEBREE (838) (6,212)
Withholding tax AN
Charge for the period/year NEAR, FEEL W - 60
Deferred tax (note 26) IRIEFR1E (FizE26) (3,350) (1,552)
Total tax credit for the period/year ERREERIBIR R AREE (3,647) (6,343)

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

10.  INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FRiFIR @

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before UTARRAIBGEZRNESZH
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the majority (BRAEKXZIDHIE A EBRERE
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective HEZETMESE) BEERRE
tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the AEZREIHZHIE  UWKERR
statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows: R EVEERE) BEMNRMEZHIK

Nine months ended Year ended
31 December 2022 31 March 2022
#E20225 HE20226F
12A31HLENER 3B3MBLEE
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
T#x FTERT
Loss before tax PRIZATRSIE (47,890) (28,018)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BAETERE
HETRIE (11,972) 25.0 (7,004) 25.0
Lower tax rate(s) enacted by 1t 75 1% A 78 4
local authority TRERE 284 (0.6) %61 (3.4)
Effect of withholding tax on the BREEHE
distributable profits of the Group’s HPEE AT
PRC subsidiaries AR RER EE
ZHEINRZEE - - (23) -
Income not subject to tax BEZRHRZBA (623) 1.3 (3,554) 12.7
Expenses not deductible for tax AafiRzH - = 835 (3.0)
Tax losses utilised from previous BEHEEAEZ
periods RIBEIE (195) 04 (81) 03
Tax losses not recognised KHEBZMIERE 9,697 (20.2) 8,735 (31.2)
Adjustments in respect of current PRI EATR IR AL BN HA
tax of previous period EHRE (838) 1.7 (6,212) 22.2
Tax credit at the Group’s REAEBEZBEURRE
effective rate EZRIEESR (3,647) 7.6 (6,343) 226
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

11.  DIVIDENDS 1. BE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
HZE20224F 20224
128318 3831H
IEhEA8 IEEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Final — HK0.26 cent (year ended 31 March 2022: >k HA % B 5 B%0.26:8 1Ll
HKO0.26 cent) per share (B E20223831H
LIEFEE ¢ 0.26781) 5,590 5,590
Special — Nil (year ended 31 March 2022: FHIRE — & (Bl E20226F
HKO0.56 cent) per share 3A3MHLEEE : 0.5678 1) - 12,040
5,590 17,630

A final dividend of HK0.26 cent per share amounting to
HK$5,590,000 in respect of the nine months ended 31 December
2022 have been proposed by the directors and are subject to
approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

EFEEMBE2022F128318
IENAE B IR R ER R B 80267811 »
A $£5,590,0008 7T - AERERNERE
RERBEKRE LHER > FRIEE -
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

12.  LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY 12. BATIZBESITEAELESE

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT K538
The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is BEREAFETHERIATR
based on the loss for the period/year attributable to owners of REMLHEARFEEBEREERE
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 2175 1B B2 N #E F 5 812,150,041,884
of 2,150,041,884 (year ended 31 March 2022: 2,150,041,884) in & (8 E£2022F3831HIEEFEE :
issue during the period/year. 2,150,041,884f%) 5+ & -
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
# E20225F #HE20228F
12A31H 3831H
IEh{ER IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FAET
Loss attributable to owners of the parent, BARstEERELRBR
used in basic loss per share calculation ZBATIRREMEE (40,977) (19,771)

Number of shares

b g 4=
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#E20225 HE=20226F
12H31H 3H31H
IEhEAR IEFE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in A st EEREAREBEIE
issue during the period/year for the purposes  H, " E AR B 1T E @R
of basic loss per share calculation TNHEF9 8k 2,150,041,884  2,150,041,884
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in AEBPE F2022F128318 1k
issue during the nine months ended 31 December 2022 and year NEB KREZE202253831H IEFEE
ended 31 March 2022. BABTHESWEZEETEER -
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. V¥ -BERSHE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
g frf
BF NEEE BERME RERRRE RE  ERIR 1]
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TiEn Ti#n TiEn Tin Ti#n TiEn TR
At 1 April 2021, net of accumulated RANEARIE > MIREF
depreciation e 20,384 811 21136 1587 13719 267,053 324,350
Additions HE - Al 2288 1812 123 49314 53758
Depreciation provided during the year YT E R (101) (329) (5,533) (2799) () - 9631)
Disposalslurie-off HE /i - - (2) M 1] - (105)
Transfer &f 1343 - 87,063 89 - (301,371) -
Exchange realignment ER A 3,066 - 2016 305 44 8,089 14120
At 31 March 2022 and 1 Apri 2022, RNNEIRN B RANE
net of accumulated depreciation 1B1R RRSHIE 236,162 704 112,944 773 1,267 23,685 382492
Additions #E 3575 - 1,065 1,645 - 18,673 24,958
Depreciation provided during the period BRI EE iR (6,526) (220) (10,072) (2,089) (132) - (19,035)
Disposalsfrite-off HE /i - - (1) (31) (1) - (289)
Tranfer &1 - - 10,958 - - (10,958) -
Exchange realignment ERHE (21.922) - (10571) (675) (9%) (2420) (35,684)
At 31 December 2022 HR02F12838 211,289 484 104,107 6,584 998 28,080 352,442
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
g fxB
BF NERE BERGE RERR RE  ERIR e
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Ti#n TR TR TiEn TiEn TR
At 31 March 2022; RA2EIRNE
Cost [ 249,162 4168 150,867 25,584 1775 23685 461,41
Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (13,000) (3464) (37,923) (17.854) (6,508) - (78,749)
Net carrying amount REEE 236,162 104 112,944 1730 1267 23,685 3682492
At 31 December 2022: RORENANA
Cost o7 42 4,016 147,576 2,927 6,699 28,980 441,620
Accumulated depreciation RHIE (18,133) (3,532) (43,469) (18,343) (5,701) - (89,178)
Net carrying amount REFE 211,289 484 104,107 6,584 998 28,980 352,442

At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$222,056,000 (31 March 2022: HK$239,224,000) were pledged
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note

25).

ARERTTRAE AU R (F5E25)

20225128318 » AEBRE
SE(E494222,056,00038 7T (20224238 31
H 239,224,000/ 75) & T~ &
ERBECIRIFEARTEAEEN—

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)
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14.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for leasehold land, clinics,
offices and warehouses used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leasehold land from
the owners with lease periods of 30 to 50 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land leases.
Leases of clinics, offices and warehouses generally have lease
terms between 2 and 5 years.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets

14.

HE

TEBEEREBA
FEERHEEMANEEL
SR MREREBIAEES
e RIBZFIMEENGER > ER
M T ESHEE TR AT EH —
MR HEAA0ENF > HBE ARG
BB ERRIE - 22F7 ~ MAERK
BENRIRIEE R2E5F o

(a) REHESE
rEFRERAESE ZREER

and the movements during the period/year are as follows: SERNEEWT

Clinics,

Leasehold offices and
land warehouses Total

2R
HELH MAEREE waEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TFHET TFAET
As at 1 April 2021 R2021FE481H 37,923 15,506 53,429
Additions "B - 1,135 1,135
Depreciation charge TERX (909) (4,658) (5,567)
Exchange realignment b 2 aR E 1,595 1 1,596

As at 31 March 2022 and 72022F3831H &

1 April 2022 20224818 38,609 11,984 50,593
Additions "B - 5,640 5,640
Depreciation charge TEMx (643) (3,849) (4,492)
Exchange realignment BE 2 aR 2L (3,580) (95) (3,675)
As at 31 December 2022 1220225128318 34,386 13,680 48,066

At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s 720225 12831H » AE B R E

1% EEEEEERE

right-of-use assets with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$31,733,000 (31 March 2022: HK$35,606,000) were pledged
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
25).

TH(E 49 731,733,000 7T (20224E3 831
H : 35,606,000 7T) WETHERAESE
ECEBEARTAERN—RKIRT
BB RIER (MfsE25) ©
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14.  LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

14. HE @

TEBESRBA @

() HEERE

HERRZREERE FRE

during the period/year are as follows: BIANF -
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
8 E20225F #Hz2022
12H31H 3H31H
IEh{ER ILFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Carrying amount at 1 April R4B1HREREE 12,540 15,832
New leases wHEE 5,640 1,135
Accretion of interest recognised HB/ AR
during the period/year F B 487 725
Payments NN (4,161) (5,152)
Exchange realignment BE L aA (102) -
Carrying amount at 31 December 120224128318,
2022/31 March 2022 2022FE3H 31 HVERE B 14,404 12,540
Analysed into: pak g
Current portion REIERS 5,630 4,603
Non-current portion FERENEB(D 8,774 7,937
14,404 12,540

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note

HESEZ I TRMBRRE

36 to the financial statements. M 5E36P IR EE ©
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) 1Az ARFEsTRYTH B 6 R =0 B
leases are as follows: F:
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
HE20224F 20224
12831H 3H31H
IEhEAR IEEE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGEMNER 487 725
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ EFEE EITERR X 4,492 5,567
Expenses relating to short-term leases SO HATE EAERAMIBE X 1,556 1,403
Total amount recognised in profit or loss BRI RIE4EEE 6,535 7,695

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31(c) (d)

to the financial statements.

PdEE31(c) IR, o

HENRE RN EEERMHRE

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)
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15.  GOODWILL 15. HE
HK$’000
FET
31 December 2022 20225128318
Cost at 1 April 2022, R2022F4B1H Z A& >
net of accumulated impairment Nk EsHEE 106,214
Exchange realignment bE R ER % (10,266)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2022 12022128318 Z BR @3 E 95,948
At 31 December 2022: 20225128318 -
Cost 0% -] 100,344
Accumulated impairment REtRE (4,396)
Net carrying amount REFRE 95,948
31 March 2022 202253H31H
Cost at 1 April 2021, net of accumulated impairment ~ 1$20216F4B1H Z A48 >
R R5tRE 103,269
Impairment during the year FARE (1,577)
Exchange realignment PERAE 4,522
Net carrying amount at 31 March 2022 12022383 1H Z BREEE 106,214
At 31 March 2022: H22022FE38318 ¢
Cost FX A 1B 111,061
Accumulated impairment REHRE (4,847)
Net carrying amount IREFE 106,214
Impairment testing of goodwill SR E R

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for impairment

testing:

. Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Meng .

Sheng Pharmaceutical

BBREFSHWBZHENDE
ETHNREELESEMFEREAR :

BEERECBEEMRTELE
i

«  Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit for Tianda c RAHEE (FEH) BERAF
Chinese Medicine (China) Ltd. (“TCM (China)’) (TRARHEE (FFE) ) ZHEE
EmREELEMQ
+  Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit for Zhuhai o BRBRKPESRRBRAT (TE
Tianda Processed Chinese Herbal Medicine Ltd. (“Zhuhai BRAPERR ) ZHEBEER
TPCHM’) R AL
+  Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Tianda « RREE (KB Z2BEERRSE

Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

EEE
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15.

GOODWILL (continued) 15. HE w
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) HERENE @®
During the year ended 31 March 2022, impairment of B E202FE383MBLEEE B
HK$1,577,000 was made for the goodwill attributable to the SREEFETELEUREBEERE
CGUs for Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical, which are included in the 1,577,000 7T » 6 5t A B ER
segment of Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business. BRoER e
Full impairment of HK$1,255,000 and impairment of BRBRAPEMRR RRAPEE
HK$1,627,000 were made for the goodwill attributable to the (hE) WIREEEBEURGEEENE
CGUs for Zhuhai TPCHM and TCM (China) in prior years, FEE DRI E %R (E1,255,000% 7T
respectively. R imi{E1,627,00 7T ©
The recoverable amounts of the pharmaceutical BaEERRSELEEMYTKEOIE
products cash-generating units have been determined based HEENFEREEAEMERE » HiF
on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections on RAREREEBH ERERAFHZH
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior BHEEZHAESRETEN - HHEAFEH
management. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows AEzBZERREELBEURER
of the pharmaceutical products cash-generating units beyond the ERAZERTEBETENRIAT
five-year period is the same as the long term average growth rate IR REAER o
of the pharmaceutical industry.
Tianda
Meng Sheng TCM  Pharmaceuticals
Pharmaceutical (China) (Zhuhai)
RXAHEE RAREEE
BREmE (P E) (Bki®)
31 December 2022 2022128318
Discount rate ARIR = 18.10% 12.45% 14.28%
Terminal growth rate KABRE 3% 3% 3%
31 March 2022 2022538 31H
Discount rate RAIRZE 20.66% 12.67% 14.51%
Terminal growth rate KA RE 3% 3% 3%

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation
of the pharmaceutical product cash-generating units as at 31
December 2022 and 31 March 2022. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Rz 75 B i 5t H20225 128318
R02FI[NEBEEMREELE
UNEREE UTHINEEEAR
ReEReRAETHERENSRDN
ZRARRR

35 2022 (20226128318 - ES) KT
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15.

138 B

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Forecasted growth rates — The forecasted growth rates are
based on industry forecasts.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is with reference
to the gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the pharmaceutical industry and discount rates
are consistent with external information sources.

The net carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units is as follows:

15.

BE®

AE AN
B EE—ERTEENNE
AR -

EHEANE— AU T EEER
REENEEASEREREEEN
—EFHERMER R o

RAIRER —FRARAIR R A IRHAD
iz R SR AR R B (i A A BV A4S RE LR o

AREEEENBEERTISH
BRERENTEZHEREINBESR
R—E -

PRERHREELEUZHEZ
FREVFEWMT ¢

Tianda
Meng Sheng TCM  Pharmaceuticals
Pharmaceutical (China) (Zhuhai) Total
XAHBE RAEE
By (RED (%i5) k]
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER T#ER TER
Carrying amount of goodwill 1t2022512B 318
as at 31 December 2022 ZEEREE 4,459 1,398 90,091 95,948
Carrying amount of goodwil ®20253831H
as at 31 March 2022 ZEEREE 4917 1,542 99,755 106,214

The effects of the reasonably possible change in
key assumptions on the calculation of value in use of the
cash-generating units, which would cause the carrying amounts to
equal to the recoverable amounts, are disclosed below.

TXRETERRNVEGEIES
EHREELEBEAURERAEBEEN BN
£ ARTEVERREEEERT
AR BRI AU O£ 58 -
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15.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in the
forecasted growth rate by 3 percentage points (31 March 2022:
Nil) would cause the carrying amount of the CGU to equal to its
recoverable amount, and any reasonably possible change in other
key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would
not cause the CGU’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable
amount.

TCM (China)

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in
the forecasted growth rate by 13 percentage points (31 March
2022: 16 percentage points) would cause the carrying amount of
the CGU to equal to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably
possible change in other key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the CGU’s carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in the
forecasted growth rate by 5 percentage points (31 March 2022: 5
percentage points) would cause the carrying amount of the CGU
to equal to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably possible
change in other key assumptions on which the recoverable
amount is based would not cause the CGU’s carrying amount to
exceed its recoverable amount.

15. BE®w

HERENR @®
BraEe

EABERERA  FAKERERT
FR3ME B 9 B5 (20224E3831H : #|) 18
BYNRSESBENNREESNER
W& %8 > AT EISEERIKIENE
EEERZNEMSIEAEESHIL R
SENBRESESFEMUNREEBAE
B E

XA RS (hEH)
EABEERA > BHERET
FR131E B9 2 (2022438318 168
DR BERRESELEMUNKREAE
HERETIKEIEEE > M UKEEEE
FrkiENEEFERINEMSET
EEHASERIREELBENMNRE
EBHEATKEIEEE -

XAGEE (HF)
EARESERA > FHERET
FE5EE 9B (2022838318  5EB D
B BENIRSESFBEMNMNEREER
ERETIREEEE > A UK E & EEFT
KENECTERRVETMSIEATRE
EHIAGENIREELEMNREE
BHETUEEEE o

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. HEeE\EEE

Licences and

Development

permits costs Total
YRR B 8% R 25 4Rz
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
31 December 2022 20225128318
At 1 April 2022: 20224818
Cost BX s 100,061 10,003 110,064
Accumulated amortisation and BB RRE
impairment (84,554) (3,573) (88,127)
Net carrying amount IREEE 15,507 6,430 21,937
Cost at 1 April 2022, net of H220225E481B 2
accumulated amortisation A {8 - 0B
and impairment ReHBHE R RE 15,507 6,430 21,937
Amortisation provided for the period Hf Pai# £ 1% & (12,661) (1,499) (14,160)
Exchange realignment ERAE (1,093) (558) (1,651)
At 31 December 2022 1820225128318 1,753 4,373 6,126
At 31 December 2022: 20225128318
Cost R 7S 90,567 9,071 99,638
Accumulated amortisation and EHEE B E
impairment (88,814) (4,698) (93,512)
Net carrying amount IRERE 1,753 4,373 6,126
31 March 2022 20224 3H31H
At 1 April 2021: 1202144818 -
Cost |79 96,097 9,597 105,694
Accumulated amortisation et R E
and impairment (76,538) (1,371) (77,909)
Net carrying amount EBREHE 19,559 8,226 27,785
Cost at 1 April 2021, net of 1R2021FE4B 1B Z
accumulated amortisation and BAE > {OBRER
impairment ST EE RORE 19,559 8,226 27,785
Amortisation provided for the year FREEEE (4,830) (2,121) (6,951)
Exchange realignment BE 2 ER 2 778 325 1,103
At 31 March 2022 120225838318 15,507 6,430 21,937
At 31 March 2022: 12202238318 -
Cost %N 100,061 10,003 110,064
Accumulated amortisation Het R E
and impairment (84,554) (3,573) (88,127)
Net carrying amount BREHE 15,507 6,430 21,937

140 ESEEEEERE
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16.  OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16. HEEBREE ®
Upon the review of the estimated useful lives of certain EEEEBHAETHRMTIEN
licences and permits by the management with effect from 1 April et EAFRETES%R » B2022
2022, the Group accelerated the amortisation of certain licences F4A1BE > FEEMRBHETH
and permits. This change in accounting estimate has been applied BAFFAE ZgsHEstEEEMAT
prospectively and has resulted in an increase in amortisation of B4 FE A > 0 B E 2022612831
HK$9,247,000 for the nine months ended 31 December 2022. H IE B B B9 EH1E 09,247,000 7T ©

17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE 17. EEABAAEBHEIAEERH

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Wiz E
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20225 20224
12A31H 38318
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Equity investments designated at fair value ISESRAABEIAEE
through other comprehensive income EEWEZRERE
Listed equity investments, ASLAN IR AKSE
Pharmaceuticals Limited American EHREKRHERAE
Depositary Shares, at fair value EBHTEFERG -
BRANEE 41 1,767
The above equity investments were irrevocably designated M ERALET A HEE 5 E
at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group ARAABEFAEREZANS >
considers these investments to be strategic in nature. AREERALEREBREMLE -
18.  INVENTORIES 18. #&
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20224 20224
12H31H 3H31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Ewx FHET
Raw materials EMEt 17,878 18,074
Work in progress TRM 13,297 27,519
Finished goods X & 17,018 29,301
48,193 74,894

35 2022 (Bi=2022 128318 i8S IR
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19.  TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

19. BUARM R BRI

31 December 31 March

2022 2022

20224 20224

12H31H 3H31H

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#Ex FAET

Trade receivables FE U BR FX 96,620 96,191
Impairment A (963) (560)
95,657 95,631

Bills receivable RN ZEE 43,095 46,113
138,752 141,744

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on AEEBREFZESZAFREE

credit, except for new customers where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit periods range from 60 to 180 days.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group’s trade and bills receivables relate to a large number of
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade and bills receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of each reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables, is as
follows:

LEElRAE > EMER—REERL
IR - EEHIERE R60E180RAF o
AEBHREEBBRIBERTBRRE
B IRAGEEENFIREE AR
BRERKE SHREEREEHEREH
R BN EXFIBERREERZ
BUERRRERRBEIRRZER
WI\MBAEREERR - SEE L
ER AR EWARRAGERAVIR IR mEl
HEeaE8a 25 - BUERMKRER
REAREHE -

RE|EHR > URRAHPR/EE
MR FEWAR R Z BB RS 1R E R B FEIX
R REWEBEZREDTMT ¢

31 December 31 March

2022 2022

20225 20224F

12831 3H831H

HK$°000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

Within 2 months 218 B ™ 105,161 118,341
2 to 3 months EX] (=] 3,275 3,021
Over 3 months MEA L E 30,316 20,382
138,752 141,744

RAAREARAE
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19.  TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

19. FEYRBRFN B FEUNZ B ()

FEWERR Z BEGRER 228
LI

31 December 31 March

2022 2022

20225 20225

12H31H 3H31H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At beginning of period/year REREA 560 120
Impairment losses, net BERBEEEEE 468 436
Exchange realignment BE A 2L (65) 4
At end of period/year WRER AR 963 560

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date by assigning an internal credit rating with reference to
the historical records of the Group to determine the probability
of default. Loss given default is estimated based on market
information. The loss rate is then adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement
activity.

BMEDTNEREDHET 7
NA2EARERIBELERG TR
SEFR > UEEQNAEN - B
WEBERDIRBEHIZERMGE - BEX
HEgrHBEE > URMREFERLR
HARREHERTBTRA (WEA) - —
RME > BUERRINEEE—FH
FREBHAITERRE > AIGHHE o

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)
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19. FEUWBRF B FEURZE I8 (@)
TXHEHISEBEKRFRZEE

19.  TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk

exposure on the Group’s trade receivables: R RE R
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
Class of credit rating SETRER Notes loss rate amount losses
B 5 BEE HLERMEE B8
% HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
As at 31 December 2022 H220225E12831H
Class 1 148 - 57,456 -
Class 2 248 0.04 3,354 1
Class 3 ERE] 1.64 33,876 556
Class 4 448 3.20 1,579 51
Credit impaired receivables BEERERIERR 100.00 355 355
Total “st 96,620 963
As at 31 March 2022 12022438 31H
Class 1 S48 - 85,838 -
Class 2 8248 0.10 3,110 3
Class 3 55348 0.99 1,854 18
Class 4 $F448 2.14 4,956 106
Credit impaired receivables BEERERWIRR 100.00 433 433
Total st 96,191 560
Notes: MIsE -
(i) Class 1 customers maintain active business with the Group and have a (i) BIHER P EAERRIFRRERTR

good repayment history. Receivables were not yet past due. BRI RIT o FEWARFR KA o
(i) Class 2 customers maintain active business with the Group and have (i) FHEFRHEAERRIFERERTR
a good repayment history. Certain portion of receivables from these REMRDHRRT - WERFNETHE
customers were past due but the Group expects that the receivables BRI B AR > BAEEE Uk

can be recovered. FEURBRTX ©
(i)  Class 3 customers have no recent transactions with the Group but (i) SRMEFPIMHNEEAERETR

5% BEMRTHRE - BWIRRER
B > (B E B T 5 AT UL B FEIRAR X ©

have a good repayment history. Receivables were past due but the
Group expects that the receivables can be recovered.

(iv)  Class 4 customers have past due receivables and the Group expects (iv) SBHERFHEWIREMRERH » BAER
high risk of irrecoverability for the receivables. FEEHEWER R FEBIANEIM S R R ©

ZERWEHEINOB REIE] - &
NEEFRRDR  ZFRBEENLAR
BERHAKREERSE  TEZHNZ
FRWZEOEEAHAPRESE o W &
WRER T EAE A ER M AEE (G5t
RRRENTRAGRERER -

The bills receivable are due within 90 days. In the
opinion of the Company’s directors, the fair values of these bills
receivable approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short-term maturities of these receivables. There was
no recent history of default from bills receivable and the Group
estimated that the expected loss rate for bills receivable is
minimal.

14 BRI
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20.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. FE(IRRIE - MERHEERKH
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20225 20224
12831 3A31H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Non-current JETE
Deposits for acquisition of items of: WU TIEE Z#EE
Property, plant and equipment M BEKRRE 981 2,490
Other intangible assets HeBEEE 25,991 21,212
26,972 23,702
Current TREh
Prepayments FETRIE 1,987 5,760
Deposits b 21,730 3,314
Other receivables HEEWK 2,826 3,227
26,543 12,301
Impairment allowance WE R (158) (78)
26,385 12,223

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

REKRHECEWRZ HERBER

deposits and other receivables are as follows: Bz BT :
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20225F 20225
12H31H 3H31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
At beginning of period/year RHE ) 78 63
Impairment losses, net ERIEFRE 920 15
Exchange realignment PERAE (10) -
At end of period/year RHEF & 158 78

During the nine months ended 31 December 2022,
HK$90,000 (year ended 31 March 2022: HK$15,000) was
charged as provision for expected credit losses on deposits and
other receivables. The provision rates are based on an internal
credit rating with reference to the historical records of the Group
to determine the probability of default. Loss given default is
estimated based on market information. The loss rate is then
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate.

W& E20228128318 L W E
B > 90,000/ 70 (B £202253831H 1E
FE 150008 ) FARERETHE
Wz FEERE E A58 B INkR o 3
BEDENRSEAERBAFLHEZA
HIEETRUETEBOME - B8
KRBT ISE Bet c |AREEM
A B LA iz PR A AR O e SR SR AR R R

A (naE) -

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)
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20.

21.

22.

146 ESEEECPE

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  20. FA{fIFRIE - HERHEEKH @
(continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXEIAERIZERETCRK
exposure on the Group’s deposits and other receivables: FRZEERBER
As at 31 December 2022 H42022512831H
Expected credit loss rate ?Eﬂﬂ SERBEEX 0.64%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) MARmEE (FA&T) 24,556
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TAEHRE B/ 18 (F#&T) 158
As at 31 March 2022 72202238 31H
Expected credit loss rate FHHAE EREX 1.19%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) MERmEE (FA7T) 6,541
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHREEEE (TET) 78
STRUCTURED DEPOSITS 2. HBIBEER

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and KR ﬁﬁﬂﬁ'&ﬁﬁfﬁﬂﬁﬁ e
represented wealth management products issued by banks. As at RIVTHITHHEEEEMR © 102022
31 December 2022 and 31 March 2022, the aggregate principal F12831H K202263831H > B A
of deposits and the rates of return were not guaranteed. The TR ORI IFRE - FBERE
structured deposits were classified as financial assets at fair value MRERERRIEABBER R
through profit or loss on initial recognition. The fair values were ARABEZEMEE - ARABEEER
based on the market values provided by the banks at the end of RIFTHRREMRREHRZTHEE -
the reporting period.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. RERBFEFEER

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash
and bank balances denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$294,372,000 (31 March 2022: HK$326,647,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

REREHR zt:%u)\%”ﬂ%
5B 2 3R & K IR 1T 45 8% 294,372,000
70 (20224638318 : 326,647,00058
71:) c \REB AT EHRMRAERES

> SR AR 38 o B A Bk S BE B 1) 3R 61
Ji’z,.uIZ EERNESERE » K&
B EREAETINEER ZIRITE
ARERBAHEEE

?’?H’:‘ﬁﬁﬁzfﬁﬁgﬁéﬁﬁiﬂ’_?‘
A RZFBFRBRIF S  S|RITH
BRERNROTEERCHZEER
YFRVERIT ©
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23.

24.

TRADE PAYABLES 23. FE{TRRTR
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of RERSHR > UBZEBHAE
each of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as EHNEMERMZIRE 2N T ©
follows:
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20225 20224
12A31H 38318
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Within 2 months pAEN=N 63,757 91,729
2 to 3 months 223EB 988 1,013
Over 3 months 3MEB UL 6,595 12,432
71,340 105,174
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally FETERFR AR E > —MRH30E
settled within terms of 30 to 60 days. B0KMAEE °
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24, HERERKEAER
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20225 20224
12831 3H31H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M 5 F&T FAET
Contract liabilities BHEE (a) 111,733 14,078
Other payables HERBMR (b) 24,7117 17,338
Accruals FEstE R 70,841 63,994
Dividend payables FETRZ 8 39 34
207,330 95,444

35 2022 (20226128318 - ES) IR
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24.  OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued) 24, HERERRESER @
Notes: MizE
(a)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (@) BHaEIE0NT:
31 December 31 March 1 April
2022 2022 2021
20225 20224 20214
12A31H 3831H 4818
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET FET
Short-term advances received from customers B UNZE R 5EHAZARR
Sale of products HESMm 111,733 14,078 11,759
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver SHNEREIERNEEE BRIZMHE
pharmaceutical products and provide medical services. The increase in BERENE WIS - KEERE &4
contract liabilities in current period was mainly due to the increase in EEENMTIERHNERMEBELT
short-term advances received from customers in relation to the sale of B E BN RS ERR AT N
pharmaceutical and Chinese medical products at the end of the year. B2 o
(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average credit (b) HEENMZASHE > FI9=ZE4H
term of three months. ={@B -
25.  INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 25. FHRERITERMR
31 December 2022 31 March 2022
02F12R318 022538318
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BRFE™) HER Térn  BRAE®) bl Thn
Current; ng .
Bank loans - secured BTER-BER China Loan 03 64,674 LPR#1%  2022- 2023 57,259
Prime Rate WBEF TEETTSE 00F - ABE
(“LPR?) #1% REF=MI%
HEERTHSE
REFEM%
Non-current; FERE
Bank loans - secured RITER-FHEA LPR+1% 2024 - 2025 61,972 LPR+1% 2023 - 2025 90,634
RESRTE 0UF - 20055 PEIEHTIE 2003% - 005E
REFEM% RERIZMY
126,646 147,893
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25.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 25. EIRITER®
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20224 20224
128318 3831H
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: ARMUTHEEEZN
WITER !
Within one year or on demand —FERHILEEE 64,674 57,259
In the second year BTHENRN 53,554 68,067
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BZEFRERN
(BIEEEME) 8,418 22,567
126,646 147,893

Notes:

The bank loans bear interest at floating rates at the LPR, published
by the People’s Bank of China, plus 1% and are denominated in
Renminbi.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank loans were secured by the pledge
of certain of the Group’s right-of-use assets and property, plant
and equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$253,789,000.

As at 31 March 2022, the bank loans were secured by the pledge
of certain of the Group’s right-of-use assets and property, plant
and equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$274,830,000. In addition, the bank loans were secured by a
guarantee of Zhuhai Tianda Realty Limited (“Zhuhai Realty”) which
was subsequently released on 12 May 2022 following the disposal of
Zhuhai Realty by the Group on 29 March 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had unutilised banking facilities of
HK$42,202,000 (31 March 2022: HK$16,058,000).

RTERILFEHFE BNRFEA KR
TAMHERTIBRETEM+1%) 5tE
WIANREEREL -

1220225128318 > SRITERLUEERE
HRAAY#3253,789,000 8 ST AR EE EE T
ERRBEENRME BERREF
AR o

202238318 » SRITERLUER®E
S EEH 274,830,000 THIARERE T
FEREEEURYE BERREE
LR o b 4h > A& B 522022438298
HEKRESRABEERAE ((KEE
¥)B KBEBEABRTEREEN
EREBMN2022E58 128 f25F o

722022128318 » AKEEKRE A Z IR
1T REE 442,202,0003% 7T (202243531
H : 16,058,000 7T) ©
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26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 26. IRIEFRIAEE

Fair value Withholding
adjustment tax on
arising from Other distributable
acquisition of intangible profits of
a subsidiary assets subsidiaries Total
Wi
MEAR HEAR
E%Z HE ARk
ARARERE BREE RNZENR L
Notes HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(i TER TEL TR TR
At 1 April 2021 1202154818 426 5461 83 5970
Deferred tax credited to proft or loss during the year FREREIAZ
EEHE 10 8) (1409) ®) (1552)
Exchange realignment ERBE 17 17 - 24
AL 31 March 2022 and 1 Aprl 2022 R200238318 %
02244818 3 4269 : 4652
Deferred tax credited to proft or loss during the period ~~ HAREBZEHAZ
EEHE 10 ) (3308 - (3.350)
Exchange realignment ERAE (35) (305) - (340)
At 31 December 2022 Rn2E12ANE 306 656 - 962

190 ESEEEEERE

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong and
Australia of HK$171,780,000 (31 March 2022: HK$156,337,000)
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
has tax losses arising in Macau of HK$984,000 (31 March
2022: HK$984,000) and that will expire in one to three years for
offsetting against future taxable profits. The Group also has tax
losses arising in Mainland China of HK$77,703,000 (31 March
2022: HK$47,825,000) and that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen from subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

TEEBEREEARBRKF
TMAEREARIEHELESFEZ
NEWARKRERREFN Z2RIBEE
171,780,000 st (202238318
156,337,000/875) - NEEBIFEEEM
T A A 3 8 >R 2 R SR AR A ) B g it
—E=ZFARE MR IEE18984,0008
7C (20224E3 8318 : 984,000 7T) © &
EEB A RBPEARER A BRIEHE
REEER BN RBER—ERLFEANRE
w2 M IEE54877,703,00078 7T (20224E3
B318 : 47,825,000 ) ©

MR ZEHRKBEHE—KRE
BB AR > BSR AR KAIBERE
ABUEF LURSHIR AR - AR
ZEBIERRDELEREEE
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26.

27.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued) 26. IREMERE @

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% RBEPEEERGRE AR
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors BERFEAERIINIEEERE
from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland B SMEL 32 B B P B K AR S B B 4810%
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and BITEH - % E B2008F1B1HE %
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding MR A RR2007E 12BN B BEEW
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland BF o P EAREESINEIEEEIT
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, BEREG TR - BATEN
the applicable rate is 5% (year ended 31 March 2022: 5%). MEFRE - AAEEMS > BRAR
The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends EA5% (B E2022F383MH IEFE -
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in 5%) ° [El It 7s & [ 78 #h A B oK B AR 3L
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. HZEN B QT B2008F181HEE

EBFFADIKBIR SMMMTEINR o
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the A B M H IR SRR AT AR S
payment of dividend by the Company to its shareholders. TR EBR-
SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20224 20224
12A31H 38318
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Authorised: ETE -
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 4,000,000,0000% & B&
HEABITZEIBER 400,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHRE :
2,150,041,884 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 2,150,041,884R% = B%
HEABITZEER 215,004 215,004

35 2022 (B=2022 128318 1085 [l
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28.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the reporting period are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 69 of the financial
statements.

The capital contribution reserve represents (1) the excess
of the disposal consideration over the fair value of the disposal
of Tinwise Investment Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Tinwise
Group”) in 2010 as a deemed contribution from a shareholder;
(2) the excess of the disposal consideration over the fair value of
the disposal of the packaging and printing business in 2012 as a
deemed capital contribution from the ultimate holding company;
and (3) the excess of the disposal consideration over the fair
value of the disposal of mineral resources business in 2012 as a
deemed capital contribution from the ultimate holding company.

The special reserve represents the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company
and the nominal amount of the share capital of a subsidiary
acquired by the Company pursuant to a corporate reorganisation
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange in 1992.

The statutory reserve represents (1) the appropriation of
certain percentages of profit after taxation of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC as recommended by the directors of those
subsidiaries based on the PRC statutory financial statements
and (2) the provision for production safety being accrued by a
subsidiary in the PRC at fixed rates ranging from 2% to 4% based
on operating revenue (the maintenance and production safety
funds), which is transferred from retained profits to the statutory
reserves and could be utilised when expenses and capital
expenditures in production maintenance and safety measures are
incurred.

28.

f#E

A R4S HA 2 R R R A
GET N e =Py
HEBE o

HEREARRN 20100EHE SR
NEEEME A Sl Tinwise Investment
Limited B ELIf B 2 B (#4558 MTinwisefE
) zREBERFIEEZARER
EA—BRRZRIEHE ; (2) 2012F
HEBERNBER ZKESHFH
EZAREBE FARKERATZ
BIEHE ; RO 20NEHEBRES R
(B ZREBEREEZAREE
EAREERATIZHRIEHE °

BREEDERBRE—IRRE
BEARR B RDH1992FE TP £
METZ AR EMEFRETZRAEE
BIPTIRIE— M B AR Z A mEW
Bz E8

EE BTSN R E R Z MY
BRABIZEERBEFEEZEMFHRE
MmEZEMZZH B RBZRIREEF
FHETEALEZAERQEELZSE
ZEE o T — R B A B AE
ERABBERT F2%E4% 2 BIEF
RELX HEREELZZES) > AR
BRMNEREAERE > ARNEES
BRZEEREESZHRERFHZE
A -

RAAREARAE
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29.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON- 29, B EKXKIEZERESNIGES

CONTROLLING INTERESTS MiEAS
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material BEAEAIFERE R 2 ALK
non-controlling interests are set out below: BAGFBEHIWT -
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20225 20224
12A31H 38318
Percentage of equity interest held by JEIEREEITEN
non-controlling interests: REE DL :
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical BRA g 45% 45%
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#E20224F #2022
12A31H 38318
IthEA8 IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Loss for the period/year allocated DEFIFERERN
to non-controlling interests: AHEAME FERIE
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical R (3,308) (1,602)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests: Bk FIFIERETRS -
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical ek S - 987
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RS B R IEIE R
interests at the reporting date: R R4 ER ¢
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical e 26,480 32,522

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)
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29. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-  29.

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical. The amounts
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

BEEAREERESHNIHES
8 28 @)

TRRBBAEEENV BRI
B RENESRAREFLEMASEM
2R

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#E20225 #HE20228F
12H31H 3H31H
IEhfER IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TAT
Revenue WA 39,363 82,233
Total expenses MR (46,713) (85,794)
Loss for the period/year AHARE, FEEBE (7,350) (3,561)

Total comprehensive loss THR  FEZEEBE

for the period/year MxE (13,427) (615)
Current assets MENEE 41,848 47,935
Non-current assets ERIEE 35,888 43,455
Current liabilities mEaR (18,799) (18,924)
Non-current liabilities JEREIAE (93) (194)
Net cash flows from operating activities RERKEEHNIREREFE 1,584 1,139
Net cash flows used in investing activites FRRREFZHNIREREFEE (2,092) (876)
Net cash flows used in financing activites AR EZSNRE T2 258 (1,169) (1,025)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents REKRFELEBEH R/ B (1,677) (762)

IV xAzEEREAR
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30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 30. HE—HMBAR
On 29 March 2022, the Group disposed of its entire equity 72022538290 » AAEBEURE
interest in Zhuhai Realty to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 168,601,000 T A AT RAAER A
ultimate holding company of the Company at a consideration of EN—EE2ERBARHEHEREE
HK$168,601,000, which was fully received on 29 March 2022. BENZIRRE > WEH202253529
B AN ENZERIE °
Details of the net assets of Zhuhai Realty and the financial EEXEEFERMBREH
impacts are summarised below: BT -
Analysis of assets and liabilities disposed: BHEEERGASN:
HK$'000
FAET
Net assets disposed of: BHEEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BEKRRE 70,061
Right-of-use assets FREEE 70,142
Cash and short-term deposits REREHES 16,704
Accruals FEstFIE (388)
Net assets BEEFE 156,519
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBATZIE
HK$'000
FHET
Disposal consideration HERE 168,601
Net assets disposed of BHEEEZFE (156,519)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect MEA AT EEFENRS
of the net assets of the subsidiary reclassified to EREERAEWBLAS
profit or loss on loss of control of the subsidiary EHIESER S EEER 104
Gain on disposal before transaction cost HEWE CGRINRR S M 4) 12,186
Transaction cost RBBAE (85)
Net gain on disposal of a subsidiary before taxation HE—FEHBABNRATW S FEE 12,101
An analysis of the net cash and cash equivalents inflow in ERHE—RRBARZRER
respect of disposal of a subsidiary is as follow: REFEEEFRADHAOT:
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration received BUWIRERE 168,601
Bank balances and cash disposed of BHERITHEGRKRIRS (16,704)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect RHE—RREBL8N
of the disposal of a subsidiary RERBREEEBBENERA 151,897

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31.

FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the period, the Group had non-cash additions to the
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$5,640,000 (year
ended 31 March 2022: HK$1,135,000) and HK$5,640,000 (year
ended 31 March 2022: HK$1,135,000), respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for clinics, offices and warehouses.

1% EEEEEEPE

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

SARERERME

(a) FEIFRERSB

A AEBERZF -WAE
REBEWNTEEZHE > 2 5%55,640,000
Bt (B E2022F3R831HILEEE ©
1,135,00078 7T) $25,640,0008 7t (B =
202238 31H IEEFFE : 1,135,00078 7T)
MIEREFERAREEREEAFEEM -

(b) MEEFBHELENEREE:

Interest- Duetoa

Lease bearing bank Dividend non-controlling

liabilities borrowings payables shareholder

Hi) FEfIIERER

fgaf RITIER RS A

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THT TET TET

At 1 April 2021 R202154B1H 15,832 129,698 3,001 -

Changes from financing cash flows ~ REBERERENEE (4427) 12,576 - -

New leases g 1135 - - -

Dividend declared (note 11) BEERES (1) - - 5,590 -

Dividends paid BfRE - - (8,557) -

Interest expense FSHE% (725) - - -
Interest paid classified PEARERETE

as operating cash flows ZEfRFE 725 - - -
Dividends declared to BERTIEERES

non-controlling interests KR - - - 987

Dividends paid to B FIFERES
non-controlling interests ZKE - - - (987)
Foreign exchange movement SHEEE - 5,619 - -
A3 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 026331 R R,

ARELFIR 12,540 147,893 % -

Changes from financing cash flows ~ REMEREHENEE (3,674) (7,681) - -

New leases HHE 5,640 - - -

Dividend declared (note 11) BERES (1) - - 17,630 -

Dividends paid BRRE - - (17,625) -

Interest expense FSH% (487) (4,556) - -
Interest paid classified as PEALERERE

operating cash flows ZBRFE 487 4556 - -

Foreign exchange movement SHELE (102) (13,566) = -

At 31 December 2022 Rw2E2ANA 14,404 126,646 3 -
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31. &Z8IREZHRERMF @

FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) FEMRERLHEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FAGERERERNIAET R
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: MWERAT -
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
& E20225F B FE20226F
12H31H 3H31H
IEhER IEEFEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#rx TFET
Within operating activities RREEER (2,043) (2,128)
Within financing activities REEEHR (3,674) (4,427)
(5,717) (6,555)
32. COMMITMENTS 32. KR
The Group had the following capital commitments at the RERERBREHARBEUTERK
end of the reporting period: ¥
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20224 20224
12831H 3318
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Contracted, but not provided for: BETAEREME
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BEKRRE 80,039 65,505
Other intangible assets HeEBREE 6,446 14,338
86,485 79,843

45 2022 (#Z=202212831 80 ER) N
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BEAXRZS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (a) MRMBRRETCEHFLZZS
these financial statements, the Group had the following b REERE FREREA
transactions with related parties during the period/year: TETUATRS :
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
HE2022F HE20226F
12B31H 3F318
IthiER HFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
MieE FT#Ew FET
Sales of pharmaceuticals and medical ~ SHEEY BB ER !
technologies products:
Zhuhai Tianheng Real Estate KeXERME
Company Limited BERAE (i) 1,500 -
Sales of healthcare products: HERRER
Yunnan Pu’ Er Tea Developments Ltd. EFEEXEZRE (il
BRAR 155 437
Purchases of package materials REGEREORYN
and designing services:
Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng BB R AN (il
Printing Co. Ltd.* BRAR 10,521 8,954
Short-term lease payment for office, WAZE - BERSN
warehouse and clinics: MRS MM
Tianda (China) Ltd. RXREZ (PE)BRAR () 422 598
Zhuhai Realty KeEZE (v) 801 -
Purchases of consumer goods: REHEm !
Tianda (China) Ltd. RXREE (PE)BRAR (v 85 212
Design fee expenses: HetE .
Shenzhen Tianda Creative Ltd.* FINKXAKBIEBERAE" (vii) 20 63

18 B
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@)  (continued)

Notes:

U]

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

Zhuhai Tianheng Real Estate Company Limited is a fellow
subsidiary of the Company. The sales to Zhuhai Tianheng Real
Estate Company Limited were made according to the published
prices and conditions offered to major customers of the Group.

Yunnan Pu’ Er Tea Developments Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of
the Company. The sales to Yunnan Pu’ Er Tea Developments
Ltd. were made according to the published prices and
conditions offered to major customers of the Group.

Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. is a fellow
subsidiary of the Company. The purchases from Zhuhai S.E.Z.
Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. were made according to the
published prices and conditions offered by Zhuhai S.E.Z.
Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. to its major customers.

Tianda (China) Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the Company. The
transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms and
conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

Zhuhai Realty is a fellow subsidiary of the Company. The
transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms and
conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

Tianda (China) Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the Company. The
purchases from Tianda (China) Ltd were made according to the
published prices and conditions offered by the Tianda (China)
Ltd to its major customers.

Shenzhen Tianda Creative Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the
Company. The transactions were conducted in accordance with
the terms and conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

These related party transactions also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

33. FIEALTRSE ®

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

KBXERMERARAB /AR
BINERMEAT - MBKEXIE
B ERRABRHEE T RAR
BRkOAEETEEFREMHHN
R ETT o

EEEEREXEERARABS
TRENRRME AT - MER
EERERERARABNHE
DEARERROAERTER
PR RAFETT

SRR EHMENBEARAR
RERBNERMEBAR - @
BB EHRENFE AR AT R
BRERK BB BT
RABRMGBHEIEERZER
MERRARR -

XARE (RE) ERATBE
REANFRMEAT - HHRS
Th 88 B E R B 2 AR
#17 o

KBEEATATNRRKEBL
B - BERRZNHERESHERR
ZARR B AR EST ©

AREXE (PE) ARARAR
AENERMBAR - ARXKE
¥ (hE) ARABKRBRERX
AREE (PR ARAARMS
HIBERZERQHERKRIRF

=
;o

FYEABEHRATAEAT
MR RWBAE - BMR S8
W 75 48 B R B 2 1B R R 1 i
7o

ZEMBEBALRBTER LR
AIBUAEFTRE Z R BEMER
50
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33.

(b)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary

The Group had an outstanding trade balance due from a
fellow subsidiary, Zhuhai Tianheng Real Estate Company Limited
of HK$1,399,000 (31 March 2022: Nil) as at the end of reporting
period, which was payable on credit terms similar to those offered

to the major

customers of the Group.

This balance is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and with a
credit term of 90 days. As at the end of the reporting period, the
balance was aged within 2 months based on the invoice date.

(c)

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries:

33. RBRE

(b)

ATRH @
FEW—FIR AN E A HIE

FERPRSHRERERNE

NEHBREERMEBRABT ZKE
B85 4588 721,399,0005 7T (20224E3
B318 : §\) » R IERELREAE
EFrEFFRRENEEBRAREZG -

ZAERR A ERIEN s REREEH

AR o MIEHAR » LG ERZ IRER
ARBEZEHZMEAR -

(c)

BANBERMBABMRIE :

31 December 31 March
2022 2022
2022%F 20224
12831 3H31H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
MizE T#Ex TFET
Trade payables &1 BR X (i) 9,390 4,936
Short-term lease payable ARG THE (ii) 344 -
9,734 4,936
Notes: MIsE -

The Group had trade balances due to fellow subsidiaries
of the Company, Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co.
Ltd. and Tianda (China) Ltd., of HK$9,225,000 (31 March
2022: HK$4,936,000) and HK$165,000 (31 March 2022: Nil),
respectively.

The balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and with a
credit term of 90 days. As at the end of the reporting period, the
balances were aged within 2 months based on invoice date.

The Group had lease payable to a fellow subsidiary of the
Company, Zhuhai Realty, of HK$344,000 (31 March 2022: Nil).
The balance is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand.

SEFEERNBRHBARDKEBLEES
EBHRENEERATDRRIAREE (b
EH) BERAGRZAREEREZERD A
#9,225,000/8 7t (2022438318 :
4,936,000 7T) F165,00087T (20224
3HA31H &) o

ZAERAEIER - REREEHA0X
o MIREHIR » G2 IREG SRR
REBAZMERA -

FEREGEAAT—HRRAMB AT
EEEMNTES 4344000587 (202243
H31H : ) o ZULHAEIEH &8
AR EREIE o

1600 B



Annual Report 2022 (For The Nine Months Ended 31 December 2022)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

33.

(d)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 33. MAEALXZS®
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: d) HFEEFEEEASME:
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
#E20224F HE20226F
12831 3B31H
IEh{ER IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Short-term employee benefits JHAR B 1EF 4,642 4,308
Post-employment benefits RIKEEF 68 66
Total compensation paid to key ENFEEEAEMELE%E
management personnel 4,710 4,374

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s

emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.

(e)

On 22 February 2019, the Group entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement to dispose of its entire
interest in Zhuhai Realty to Tianda Group Limited (the
controlling shareholder of the Company) at a consideration
of no more than RMB 145,000,000 in any event.

On 29 March 2022, the transaction was completed. Further
details of the transaction are included in note 30 to the
financial statements.

The bank loans of the Group were guaranteed by Zhuhai
Realty, which became a fellow subsidiary of the Company
following the disposal on 29 March 2022. The guarantee
was subsequently released on 12 May 2022.

#—

(e)

EREERIEZTHAEMEZ
THBHN A FHRRMIES

2019528228 » "&EEETLAE
FHEENZ > MRAAEEAR
A (EBAXRBZERER)
HERBEZ 28 Em > 1B
FEABRIEGFEEBARE
145,000,0007T °

BRI 51 2022F38298 72K ©
RGZE—THBHNHMBERE
MtzE30 o

FEBVRITERRKEEER
IR > BB EEMN20226F3829
HHEBRAKXQATNEZRNWEB
RNT] o HIERBEER 202265812
H f#bs o
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

4. ERMTEREZEER

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

REBSHRSEEMTAZRE

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BT :
31 December 2022 20225128318
Financial assets EMEE
Financial
assets at
Financial assets fair value
at fair value Financial through other
through assets at comprehensive
profit or loss amortised cost income Total
BAREE biid e BRAREE
StABTZZ Jlikz  HAEE2E
EtHEE SHEE WEZEMEE g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Equity investments designated at farr 35 E A A A EEE A
value through other He2EKEZ
comprehensive income RA%E - - # 4
Trade and bills receivables ERRDRERER - 138,752 - 138,752
Due from a fellow subsidiary El—EEZKBARRE - 1,399 - 1,399
Financial assets included in HABATE
prepayments, deposits and other R ERETEKHZ
receivables tHEE - 51,370 - 51,370
Structured deposits ERUEER 3,167 - - 3,167
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAESEER - 340,217 - 340,217
3,167 531,798 41 535,706
Financial liabilities EMaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
Yo eE R A5 5 BR
Z2ERaE
HK$’000
FERT
Trade payables &1 BR =X 71,340
Financial liabilities included in other STAHECRERARKESER
payables and accruals ZEmMas 80,085
Interest-bearing bank borrowings TRIRITENR 126,646
Lease liabilities HE&E 14,404
Due to fellow subsidiaries R RKB AT RIE 9,734
302,209
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34.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

34, EMIAZER @

RBEERRZETH TR ZRE
BN (4)

(continued)
31 March 2022 20225F3H31H
Financial assets EMEE
Financial
assets at
fair value
Financial assets Financial through
at fair value assets at other
through amortised comprehensive
profit or loss cost income Total
BARER HEHERE BAREE
ftABEZ iz HAHEZE
tHEE tHEE KEZEMEE g
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS'000
TET TET TET TET
Equity investments designated EEARRABETA
at fair value through other He2EWEZREARE
comprehensive income - - 1,767 1,767
Trade and bills receivables EBRTRENE R - 141,744 - 141,744
Financial assets included in SAABAREKER
prepayments, deposits and other ~ HE W Z £BEE
receivables - 30,165 - 30,165
Structured deposits HERMER 14,583 - - 14,583
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEER - 334,002 - 334,002
14,583 505,911 1,767 522,261
Financial liabilities =B RE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R H R AN T AR
ZEMEE
HK$'000
FET
Trade payables FE 13 BR X 105,174
Financial liabilities included in other STAHERMARRESER
payables and accruals Z2EMEE 71,618
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EIRITER 147,893
Lease liabilities HEaE 12,540
Due to a fellow subsidiary FE& < — R 2 B /&8 A B 7R 18 4,936
342,161

3R 2022 (F20224 12831 ALEAER)
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 35.

INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and the fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

EMIRZARBERAAEE
F

FEENERMTHE (KEEFE
HIRE(ERANBESEREERI)

reasonably approximate to fair value, are as follows: REERAABEUWT
Carrying amounts Fair values
IRE(E AREE
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2022 2022 2022 2022
20224 20224F 20224F 20224F
12A31H 3A31H 12831H 3H31H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET FER FET
Financial assets EHEE
Equity investments designated EEARRNEE
at fair value through other STAEREZERER
comprehensive income ZREKE ™4 1,767 741 1,767
Structured deposits ERMEER 3,167 14,583 3,167 14,583
3,908 16,350 3,908 16.350
Financial liabilities EMER
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5t B IRITIERR 126,646 147 893 126,959 148,013

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
and bills receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, an amount due from a fellow
subsidiary, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals and amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair value:

The fair value of the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income is based on quoted market prices.

EEEEN G BUWERRRIE
WRE - SFARARE -REREE
RWRZzERMEE - B —RBRE ZRH
BABMIE HEkREFEEB
FEATERAR  StAHERARKRES &
AzEmafUKREARRKERR
REZAABERERBZREEME
& TEHRZETANEHREE -

THEEMRBEZANEBER
BFRRES GrRaasuERHeE) 2B
ERRZPETIRNTRANEZEA
iR ERATI R ERBRMGEF AR
BE:

BRARBEFAECEEARTZEZ
RAEKEZ ARBEDHERTHHRE -

1 RS
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35.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of structured deposits were based on the
market values provided by the bank at the end of the reporting
period. They are estimated with the principal plus estimated
interest income based on the expected annual rate of return.

The fair values of bills receivable and interest-bearing bank
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair
values of the interest-bearing bank borrowings are categorised in
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

/. EMIAZAABERAAREE

LR @)

BTN RAEETNRER
TRREMREHNTESE - ZF
FRUAEIN LR FARAFELOREGE
Y& 5t ) S U A 5t o

BWRE R BIRITERN AR
BEDRAFHELUFR - EEARK
FEFEIHAAMN T RNRAMNKLIER
HARRIRERESE - 5FRRITER
NARBESEARABESFTRA
EBoMR o

ARBELR
TRABAEHSUIANAR
BEHESR

Assets measured at fair value BARBEAENEE
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20224 20224
12H31H 3H31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Structured deposits EEEER
— Fair value measurement using significant —UEKRATHER
observable inputs (Level 2) A ST
EITAREE
stE (B24R) 3,167 14,583
Equity investments at fair value through other R AAREBESTAERTE
comprehensive income 2EHKBREZREEE
- Fair value measurement using quoted —LUEETIGHRE
prices in active markets (Level 1) BT AREE
stE (B1R) 41 1,767

The equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are listed on the National Association of
Securities Dealers Automated Quotations (“NASDAQ") Stock Market.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 31 March 2022.

During the period, there were no transfers of fair value
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities
(year ended 31 March 2022: Nil).

BRARBESFARCZERGEZ
RERZEZESFRZBNG BEHIRE
i (TiER) REWH L™ -

1£202248 128 31 H 2202243 5 31
B AEETEAAABEESENE
EEAzI N

R EHEEREHEELE
BURRAFURZE AR BESEZEHHE
LA e i 42 5 A B 85 5R34R (8L E=2022
FIANBLEE  8#)
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36.

166 B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents and equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and bills receivables, other receivables,
structured deposits, trade payables, other payables and an
amount due to a fellow subsidiary.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instrument
are equity price risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the values of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
(note 17) as at 31 December 2022. The Group’s listed
investments are listed on the NASDAQ and are valued at quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period. The market
equity indices for the following stock exchanges, at the close of
business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the
reporting period, and their respective highest and lowest points
during the period/year were as follows:

36.

TR AMEEBFEREE

FEENTEZEEMTIAGER
ERREEEEEURE AR BES
AHEZEBRmZRERE - &ZFE
MIANTZENZRTAEENE
Bo-rEEEETEANECEMEE
hafE > MERBRRKRERERE H
ERWR - EBMEER  BIERR
HERNRKREMN—HBERRBELQR
TRIE ©

rEREMIAEELENEE
@%szﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁw s P E R 9#?’4%‘
B EERRKERHESER o
Eﬁéﬁjt’rﬁ%mﬂiﬁ"“ﬁltté}ﬂﬁ,kﬂﬁ
R > W T o

R s (& 4% B
RAEBERREREREESFNAN
Eﬁlkmhﬁm$ﬂ@% G5 EE
E4cm T BE BV R BE o 1020228128 31
B> ~EEEHREEARQIAEES
AHEZ2EWEZRAKE (E17)
EERNRABRER SEEN LT
RENMENER £ > R EREH
ROTHIHREGE - uFi%*%%
TEREEH (FERREBEERS
*mx%EW$ﬁ%u&T%/¢Wm
BEHESHMRERMOT :
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)

3. REMREEEERBE @

Equity price risk (continued) RAERE RS (8
High/low
during the High/low
nine months during the
As at ended As at year ended
31 December 31 December 31 March 31 March
2022 2022 2022 2022
B/ B/ &
BEw008F HE2002%
R02E  12BANE 1R2022F 3B31H
12838  Lth{EA 3B31H LFEE
The United States - NASDAQ EE-iES 10,466 14,534/ 14,221 16,057/
10,089 12,581

Composite Index fmadegy

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every

1% change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based
on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

TRARPHREIREQANEES

BEIGHNREE (FFALEERRE

DERARKRENKRSHRNREE

MR AE st RAEAIRNIBZ 2 EA)

/|-
Carrying
amount Increase/
of equity (decrease)
investment in equity
AR A1 & e N
B EREE /G
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET TFET
Nine months ended 31 December 2022 # F2022512831H
IEhER
Investments listed in: RUUTH#S EHRE :
The United States — Equity investments EH-EEAEAR
designated at fair value through other BEFAEEZE
comprehensive income Wz EEKRE 41 71(7)
Year ended 31 March 2022 B E2022FE3831H L FE
Investments listed in: RUTF#S EHRE -
The United States — Equity investments EH-IEEAEAR
designated at fair value through other BEFAEEZAE
comprehensive income KEZRAEKE 1,767 18/(18)

35 2022 (#®=2022128318 - ES) IR
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36.

168 B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and bank
balances and interest-bearing bank borrowings with a floating
interest rate. The Group has not used any interest rate derivatives
to hedge its interest rate risk, and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (through
the impact on floating rate of cash and cash equivalents and
interest-bearing bank borrowings).

36.

THRAMEEEEREE @

I 22 B
FEBEHTHNREFRRE
BHEAEBRRIPIRFAENRER
IRITHEERUKR G BIRITERBRM - &
E@ETEEREMAMNRITETIANY
AHMNERRRE  TRRARERER
HHERFEER -

TRAPEFMBHECEHFEFTA
BHER FIXESEAREEHHAE
E R AT B ENERKE (Bi8F 8
ERFERREFERBUKFER

THERNTE) -

Increase/
(decrease) in
loss hefore tax

3]
g,/ (F)

Nine months
Increase/ ended  Year ended
(decrease) 31 December 31 March
in basis points 2022 2022
HEN2E HE02F
2EEm,/ 12A31A 3B31H
(D) IEh{EA ILEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
HK$ BT 100 (445) (63)
RMB AR 100 (1,709) (2,115)
HKS BT (100) 445 63
RMB AR (100) 1,709 2,115
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 1.6%
(year ended 31 March 2022: 0.8%) of the Group’s sales were
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of
the operating units making the sale.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the foreign currency exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax.

36.

TRAMEEEEREE @

5 15 1 Bz
FEEEERZEBRER - B/
B2 REEEEMRNEMINERR
BUSMNIEHE Z SHE o %91.6% (BE2022
FIFINHIEFE 1 0.8%) 2 AEEH
ERNETHEZCEBEMMENMNTD
FEEBLUIMNIER A EE B -

FRBERALCRHFRER
BOER > MEEEARAT LYY
AL BB (1530) IR 3R 25 1
REVBURLE °

Nine months ended 31 December 2022

If RMB weakens against HK$
If RMB strengthens against HK$
If RMB weakens against AUD
If RMB strengthens against AUD
If RMB weakens against MOP
If RMB strengthens against MOP

#HZE2022512831H1IEAER
WEARBRBTERTR
HEARERBTEER LA
HMEARERBTEXR TR
WEARERBRTESR L7

HEARBRBRFITER T
HEARBERBRFITER L

Year ended 31 March 2022

If RMB weakens against HK$

If RMB strengthens against HK$
If RMB weakens against AUD

If RMB strengthens against AUD
If RMB weakens against MOP

If RMB strengthens against MOP

B E2022F3831HLEE

HEARBRBTERTE
HEARERETER EHA
HEARERRITER T
HEARERBETER LA

HEARERRFITERTE
HEARBRRFITER L

Increase/

Change in (decrease)
foreign currency in loss
rate before tax

S5h8  BRMRAIESIR
EEEs HEm  GRl)
% HK$'000

FHET

1 (420)

(1) 420

1 (4)

1) 4

1 (8)

(1) 8

1 (54)

W) 54

1 (1)

™ 1

1 9
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are
gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

3. REAMREEBEEERKE @

ERmERE

FEFREER AR EERFNS
ZHETRS - AEBENBERE  Fi
BEUGEERRETXZNEFIGA
BIBEEZERRF L5 > BUERR
PRI ER T FEENRERR
AKX o

RERBRFLEER
TREFIENETEBZEFEHR
Z2EREEZRARBEEAR  TE2H
RERER (RIEREERAIERAN
HABERFHENZERTERS) >
URKr12BINB Z EERE DT o Fr
ENEEATMEENBIREE-

As at 31 December 2022 220225128318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 B 858
EEBE 2HREHEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B PR PR MEAE @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
AR FERT FERT FERT FET
Trade receivables* FEW R - - - 96,620 96,620
Bills receivable EKERE 43,095 = = = 43,095
Due from a fellow subsidiary el —REE %
HEARIE 1,399 - - - 1,399
Financial assets included in HARMRE B
prepayments, deposits and other R EEEIKFZ
receivables ETHEE
- Normal** —E&E" 51,528 - - = 51,528
Cash and cash equivalents RERFEZEEE
— Not yet past due —H KB 340,277 - = = 340,277
436,299 _ , 96,620 532,919
RAEXFRAT
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

3. REMREEEERBE @

Credit risk (continued) EERR @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) RE AR FEEER (&)
As at 31 March 2022 12022538 31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
AEREREL
FEEE 2RBEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FIREER SHREER BB WIEARE 1@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iR TER FTER TiER TER
Trade receivables* FEW R T - - - 96,191 96,191
Bills receivable ElERE 46,113 - - - 46,113
Financial assets included in HARMARE BER
prepayments, deposits HEREZHZ
and other receivables STHEE
- Normal** —EE" 30,243 - - - 30,243
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEER
— Not yet past due — KRB 334,001 - - - 334,001
40,357 - ; 96,191 506,548
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * MEEECARRERRBBCEEZE

approach for impairment, information based on the credit rating is
disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements.

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be

“doubtful”.

*k

AR S > BIMEETRZ BRI
SRR MIEE 19 EE -

SPATANRIE « RERHERKRZE
MEEZEEERNARENEETE
BRI S TER ) WEENETRA
FERMEEZ EERRBERMEILUR
FREIL - BR) ARAEMBEEZER
BEWARTRIR o
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. £REMEEBEREE @

POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk M E = E R
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between rEEZBRSEEBERRT
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans ERKREEZRAREREUERE
and projected cash flows from operations. ERBHEREEG M TS -
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as RIBE TR > KEE
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual ERMEERRSHARZIABERNT

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 December 2022 20224128318
On demand
or no later 1to
than 1 year 5 years Total
BEXY
—-EUF -E1F ELE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TEn Ti#n Ti#n
Trade payables FEfTERR 71,340 - 71,340
Other payables and accruals HEEARREHER 80,085 - 80,085
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHRBITRER 69,338 63,516 132,854
Lease liabilities HEaR 6,203 9,256 15,459
Due to fellow subsidiaries EfRZKBADDE 9,734 - 9,734
236,700 12,772 309,472
31 March 2022 20224E38 318
On demand
or no later 1o
than 1 year 5 years Total
BREXH
—ELTF —Eif g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TET
Trade payables FEfTIRR 105,174 - 105,174
Other payables and accruals HeROHRESER 71618 - 71618
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SEBRTER 63,743 94,818 158561
Lease liabilities HEAE 517 8,207 13414
Due to a fellow subsidiary E—HRZKRBARDTE 4,936 - 4,936
250,588 103,115 353,703

177 IS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support
its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the nine months
ended 31 December 2022 and year ended 31 March 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
debt divided by the equity attributable to owners of the parent.
Debt includes interest-bearing bank borrowings. Capital includes
equity attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as

36.

TRAMEEEEREE @

BFXER

FEFEAEENTEZBRER
EAEBFECENESN  LRFER
BHEARLER UXFEHEBFLEIR
REREESRKIE-

EBRBEER T E E R AE R
EENERPBHEEEAGEBL DN
AR MERNRABEREE  £&
E A RERRRIKTHRE  ARKRER
REBXRFBITHMRG - AEEFR
ERSNBIEIMNEAZRFAIR - 8=
2022512831 B LENE B K B E 20224
SAMALEE > EEEXANER K
RYEF I EES o

FrEBERESBRLER BIE
BRUBABRREGER ERE
Ko BHBAEFBRITER -BEEXE
EEARRREGEDL - BERSH

at the end of the reporting periods were as follows: RANELBBILEENT :
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20224 20224
12H31H 3H31H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s RIRITEMR 126,646 147,893
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BREIRRELRELS 627,831 756,754
Gearing ratio BEXREELEE 20.2% 19.5%

35 2022 (#Z=2022€128318 - ES) IRIK]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

37 December 2022 20224 12531H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 37.

Information about the statement of financial position of the

AT ZMBRRR

BRSRBRREHRZMHFENR

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: MRZEBNMT :
31 December 31 March
2022 2022
20225 20224
12831 3H31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERBEE
Plant and equipment & BB R 5% 88 209
Right-of-use assets EREEE 7,934 10,910
Due from subsidiaries FPE Ui B J&B A B R IE 248,509 175,188
Investments in subsidiaries KRB ABSZRE 296,281 296,281
Total non-current assets ERENEEMEE 552,812 482,588
CURRENT ASSETS MBEE
Deposits and other receivables HERHEERKR 2,904 2,166
Cash and cash equivalents HeERIREEEEB 106,276 257,797
Total current assets TMENEELEE 109,180 259,963
CURRENT LIABILITIES AR
Other payables HERMM 4,575 3,800
Lease liabilities HEAaE 4,093 3,944
Due to a subsidiary F& {5 — Fél B /B8 ‘2 Bl 7R I8 195 241
Total current liabilities TmENEELELE 8,863 7,985
NET CURRENT ASSETS mMBEEFE 100,317 251,978
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 428 &R e & & 653,129 734,566
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERBERE
Lease liabilities HEAaR 4,360 7,448
NET ASSETS BEFE 648,769 727,118
EQUITY R
Share capital [} 215,004 215,004
Reserves (note) Rt (M) 433,765 512,114
Total equity RExS4aEE 648,769 727,118
Fang Wen Quan Lui Man Sang
X BX%E
Chairman Executive Director
EER HITEE
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37 December 2022 20224 12531H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY  37. ZEATIZMIERRE @)

(continued)
Note: M 5T
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KARREZBENT !
Capital Capital Exchange
Share  redemption  contribution fluctuation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
B B ER
ROEE EEEE  HREE O RBEE  REER FCE]
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTET FTET FTHET FAET FET
At 1 April 2021 202154818 355,703 67 88,441 (19,069) 100,461 525,603
Loss for the year TEERHB - - - - (13,808) (13,808)
Exchange difference arising on translation #HEELZEREEE - - - 5,909 - 5,909
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the EEEZEIE
year (F518) 4% - - - 5,909 (13,808) (7,899)
Final dividends for year ended 31 March ~ BEIREE20215F
2021 declared 3A31AILEEMN
KRS - - - - (5,590) (5,590)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 122022538 31H 52022
4818 355,703 67 88,441 (13,160) 81,063 512,114
Loss for the period RERERSE - - - - (37,356) (37,356)
Exchange difference arising on translation HEELZEREEE - - - (23,363) S (23,363)
Total comprehensive loss for the period ~ ZAEIRI 2 ER5 184258 - - - (23,363) (37,356) (60,719)
Special and final dividends for year ended B E KB K
31 March 2022 declared BE202F38318 1
EENRERE - - - - (7630 (17.630)
At 31 December 2022 R202E1283A 355,703 67 88,441 (36,523) 6077 433765
38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 38. MABHRRZHE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for IR EMN2023FE3F 230 EE
issue by the board of directors on 23 March 2023. EERERAETIE o

35 2022 (#Z=2022€128318 - ES) IRIE)



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A

RESULTS
£ |
Nine months
ended
31 December
2022
Year ended 31 March HE
BEANELEE 20225
128310
2019 2020 2021 2022 LEhEB
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET FHET T#Er
Revenue WA 527,003 491,475 474,332 509,955 410,021
(Loss)/Profit before tax BFRAT (5548) A 26,167 15,928 (27,442) (28,018) (47,890)
Income tax credit/(expense)  FriSiRIkSR /(2 H) (10,184) (7,128) 1,524 6,343 3,647
(Loss)/Profit for the KEAE B
period/year (§518) /& F 15,983 8,800 (25,918) (21,675) (44,243)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to:  (&518) /HFIGR B :
Owners of the parent ISYNGILE 2,657 3,143 (27,142) (19,771) (40,977
Non-controlling interests R ER 13,326 5,657 1,224 (1,904) (3,266)
15,983 8,800 (25,918) (21,675) (44,243)
HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent
Al AL AL =311 A
(Loss)/Earnings per share &A% (B518) /&7 0.12 0.15 (1.26) (0.92) (1.91)
:_A\SSETS AND LIABILITIES
BERAR
At
31 December
At 31 March 2022
Kt3H318 20224
2019 2020 2021 2022 12H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET FAET F#ET
Total assets BEEHAE 996,769 933,123 1,133,461 1,164,151 1,088,468
Total liabilities & &R E (185,803)  (173,360)  (342,966)  (375076)  (434,226)
810,966 759,763 790,495 789,075 654,242
Equity attributable to owners & A 5] B 58
of the parent FE G ¥ = 777,203 722,777 756,709 756,754 627,831
Non-controlling interests JEIER R = 33,763 36,986 33,786 32,321 26,411
810,966 759,763 790,495 789,075 654,242

(WOl =<5 RAT
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